

# Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-10-2024

# Change Management Strategies for Successfully Managing the Lack of Critical National Infrastructure in the Nigerian Telecommunication Industry

ADEDOYIN ADEOLA
Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

## Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Adedoyin Adeola

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Michelle Preiksaitis, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Bridget Dewees, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

#### Abstract

Change Management Strategies for Successfully Managing the Lack of Critical National

Infrastructure in the Nigerian Telecommunication Industry

by

Adedoyin Adeola

MS, Manchester Business School, 2012 BS, University of Ibadan 2001

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2023

#### Abstract

The impact of the lack of critical national infrastructure on Nigerian businesses has caused over 50 manufacturing businesses to shut down in the last 5 years. The telecommunication companies in Nigeria, with a contribution of over 15% to the National GDP in 2022, were equally impacted, with over 27 licensees returning their licenses from January 2019 to December 2021. Grounded in Kotter's 8-step change model, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry study was to identify and investigate change management strategies telecommunication leaders in Nigeria use to mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure to avoid financial liquidation. The participants were four senior leaders from telecommunication companies who successfully used change management strategies to mitigate Nigeria's lack of critical national infrastructure. Data were gathered using semistructured interviews and reviews of the company websites during the fall of 2023. Braun and Clarke's model for thematic analysis was adopted to generate three themes: business value, created through a sense of urgency; outsourcing, and power grid instability. Key recommendations for business leaders are to create business values by instilling a sense of urgency, adopting outsourcing, and using alternative power sources like solar energy and hybrid power. The implication for positive social change includes the potential for more job creation, improved standards of living, and enhanced business profitability and competitiveness in the Nigerian market.

# Change Management Strategies for Successfully Managing the Lack of Critical National Infrastructure in the Nigerian Telecommunication Industry

by

Adedoyin Adeola

MS, Manchester Business School, 2012 BS, University of Ibadan 2001

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

Dec 2023

#### **Dedication**

First and foremost, I am dedicating this doctoral study to the glory of Almighty God for His mercy and undeserved grace and favor over my life. He has been a helping hand for me since the beginning of my life, and this is another testimony to the fact that there is no impossibility with God. Secondly, I would like to dedicate this doctoral study to the lovely memory of my father (Prince Edatomolaosi Olajide Adeola ); he taught me how to focus on goals and always be the best in all that I do. To my mum, thank you for all your dedication and endurance while raising me; I appreciate all your sacrifices. To my lovely wife, Dina, thank you for your love and support on the home front. You helped me focus on this study without much distraction, and I always thank God that I have you by my side. To my kids, Derby, Obadiah, and Reyhane, this is for you all. The platform is set, and you all need to surpass this record set by God's grace. Lastly, I would like to thank Pastor E. A Adeboye for all his encouragement and preaching and God will continuously bless you and keep you. Amen.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge almighty God for His mercy over my life and for seeing me through the completion of this doctoral journey. I would like to thank my chair, Michelle K. Preiksaitis, JD, PhD; she has been a godsend to the success of this doctoral study. Her help, support, and guidance have been super great and heartwarming. My prayer for her is that God will bless her mightily. The support of my second committee member, Bridget Dewees, PhD, has been great. Lastly, I would like to thank the Walden University community for the opportunity to achieve this vision.

#### **Table of Contents**

List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem and Purpose	2
Population and Sampling	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Assumptions	8
Limitations	9
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	10
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Literature Review Search Strategy	12

Analysis and Synthesis of the Conceptual Framework	13
Kotter's Change Management Framework	14
Lewin's Theory of Change	20
ADKAR Model	23
McKinsey 7S Framework	24
Analysis of the Change Models	28
Case 1: Standardization of Reporting Template	31
Case 2: The second case is during COVID-19 and transitioning to a	
remote working environment	33
Organizational Culture	37
Communication	38
Leadership and Behaviour	39
Transformational Leadership Style	39
Transactional Leadership Style	41
Decision Justification and Conclusion	43
Critical National Infrastructure	44
Impact of the Critical Infrastructure Deficiencies	46
Causes of Critical Infrastructure Deficiencies	47
Telecommunication Industry in Nigeria	48
Change Management Strategy to Mitigate Business Liquidation	51
Transition	53

Section 2: The Project	55
Purpose Statement	55
Role of the Researcher	55
Participants	57
Research Method and Design	59
Research Method	59
Research Design	60
Population and Sampling	62
Ethical Research	63
Data Collection Instruments	64
Data Collection Technique	66
Data Organization Technique	67
Data Analysis	69
Reliability and Validity	70
Reliability	71
Validity	72
Transition and Summary	74
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	75
Introduction	75
Presentation of the Findings	75
Discussion Frequency	78

Occurrence Percentage
Theme 1. Business Value: Created Through Sense of Urgency
Theme 2. Leaders Use Outsourced Suppliers, Vendors, and Support
Mechanisms to Overcome Employee Resistance to Change and
Government Failures
Theme 3: Leaders Saw the Power Grid Instability as the Most Pressing
Need for Multiple Focused Strategies to Overcome the Challenge 93
Applications to Professional Practice
Implications for Social Change
Recommendations for Action
Recommendations for Further Research
Reflections
Conclusion
References
Appendix A: Email Invitation148

### List of Tables

Table 1. Data for Research Study	12
Table 2. Data for Literature Review	13
Table 3. Lewin's Model Versus Kotter's Model	29
Table 4. ADKAR's Model Versus Kotter's Model	29
Table 5. ADKAR Model Versus Lewin's Model	30
Table 6. Research Log	68
Table 7. Core Themes and Their Frequencies	78
Table 8. Codes and Their Frequencies	78

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Word Cloud for Theme 1	85
Figure 2. Word Cloud for Theme 2	93
Figure 3. Word Cloud for Theme 3	94

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Less than 20% of businesses that started in Nigeria survived after the first 18 months of operation; the size of the business does not provide immunity to this failure (Anudu, 2022). Adelowo wrote that over 50 Nigerian manufacturing companies have shut down in the last 5 years (Adelowo, 2020). Comparatively, the business survival rate in the United States of America remains at 50% following the first five years of operation, and 70% fail within a decade (Delfino, 2023). Adepetun (2022) highlighted that the over \$136 billion infrastructure gap is currently the main challenge facing telecommunications services providers in Nigeria. In this study, I explored successful change strategies business leaders in Nigeria's telecommunication industry used to mitigate the need for critical national infrastructure.

#### **Background of the Problem**

According to Atoyebi et al. (2019), the challenging business situation in Nigeria forced 322 firms to shut down in 5 years, and at least 1,136 of the 5,833 firms sampled were at risk of closing. The World Bank enterprise survey for Nigeria indicated that the lack of accessible or affordable electricity is the biggest hurdle to doing business in Nigeria (Orjiakor, 2022). The erratic electricity supply was a significant reason why Nigerian businesses shut down; many companies resorted to self-help by generating their electricity through generators, which is expensive to the economy and business (Orjiakor, 2022). Nigerian companies lose \$29 billion annually due to inadequate power supply (Olayinka, 2021). Nigeria's telecommunication regulator stated that about 27 licensees

returned their licenses from January 2019 through December 2021 because of economic hardship and challenges in the industry (Adepetun, 2022). The infrastructural decay and moribund state of the critical infrastructures prevented Nigeria from reaching its goal for 2020 as a top 20 economy in the world (Banko & Onyekachi, 2020; Ebuh et al., 2019). The impact of the critical infrastructure deficiency is that over 90 percent of the telecommunication companies in Nigeria risk extinction by 2027 unless strategies to manage this deficiency effectively are deployed by business owners (Ajanaku, 2022).

#### **Problem and Purpose**

The general business problem was that many businesses in Nigeria were insolvent, resulting in financial liquidation due to a lack of critical infrastructure. The specific business problem was that many business executives in telecommunication companies in Nigeria lacked the change management strategies needed to mitigate their businesses' financial liquidation caused by the lack of critical infrastructure to support their businesses.

I conducted a pragmatic qualitative inquiry to identify and explore change management strategies that some business executives in Nigeria's telecommunication companies used to mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure successfully. The findings of this research may lead to positive social change by giving Nigerian telecommunication business managers ideas to successfully manage the changes needed to overcome infrastructure deficits, provide more economic stability for the country, and create more employment for citizens.

#### **Population and Sampling**

The population for this study was from four major telecommunications companies existing today in Nigeria. I chose four senior leaders from these telecommunication companies operating in Nigeria, chosen through my industry connections as my study's population sample.

Purposeful sampling is a sampling method used to select a specific participant with more likelihood of having the right expertise, experience, and know-how to answer research questions (Rose & Johnson, 2020). I used a purposeful sampling method to find participants. One of the critical determinants for the success or failure of an investigation in qualitative studies is the proper participant selection strategy and criteria (Aksakal et al., 2019). I ensured each participant leads a licensed telecommunication company and successfully navigates Nigeria's infrastructure situation.

To be included in the study, a potential participant (a) had at least 10 years of managerial experience in Nigeria's telecommunication sector, (b) was a decision-maker in the organization, and (c) had at least 5 years of senior operation experience with either telecommunication operator or infrastructure provider. Potential participants were excluded if they (a) had returned their license within the past year or (b) were one of my current employees, coworkers, or supervisors.

#### **Nature of the Study**

The specific research methodology was qualitative. According to Korstjens and Moser (2018), researchers used qualitative research to gain an in-depth understanding of

real-world problems. I chose the qualitative research methodology to identify and explore the successful change management strategies used by telecom business leaders to understand better how to mitigate the lack of national infrastructure for telecommunications companies in Nigeria. I did not choose a quantitative method because a quantitative study measures variables to examine relationships between them or predict generalized outcomes, often to test a theory or a hypothesis (Bakar et al., 2018). The mixed method combines qualitative and quantitative research into a single study to investigate the research question (Bakar et al., 2018; Molina-Azorin et al., 2021; Yin, 2018). Using a mixed-method methodology complements the limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. Still, I did not use the design due to the expense, time-consuming nature, and nonacceptance by this program.

Pragmatic qualitative inquiry was the specific research design that I used to address the study's research questions because I collected in-depth data from professional participants who had previously experienced similar real-world situations, and no participant agreement was required. I originally had planned to do a case study. Korstjens and Moser (2018) highlighted that case studies provided considerable benefits in understanding a specific group of individuals. The multiple case study design is used for numerous types and sources of evidence for comparison and analysis (Diop & Liu, 2020). It involves merging individual interviews from different organizations to obtain various assessments and options of phenomena (Pathiranage et al., 2020). In addition, the multiple case study design is used for triangulation of that data with the literature in the

field and technical data collected from organizations supporting or further explaining the change management strategies identified during interviews (Pathiranage et al., 2020). Because there were difficulties in obtaining permission from the organizations, multiple case was not appropriate for the study, and instead, I selected the pragmatic inquiry design.

#### **Research Question**

What change management strategies do successful Nigerian telecom executives use to mitigate their business's lack of critical infrastructure to avoid financial liquidation?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What change management strategies did you use to successfully mitigate your business's financial liquidation due to a lack of critical infrastructure?
- 2. What change management strategies are you currently using to sustain your business operations (in other words, avoiding financial liquidation)?
- 3. What challenges or feedback did you face from all stakeholders (employees, vendors, managers) while implementing the successful change management strategies?
- 4. How did you respond to those challenges or feedback from all stakeholders (employees, vendors, managers) while implementing the successful change management strategies?

- 5. How did you evaluate the change management strategies in terms of their effectiveness and efficiency in financial liquidation mitigation?
- 6. What strategic changes did you make to address the lack of critical infrastructure?
  - a. What did those changes cost financially?
  - b. How did those changes benefit (support) your organization's ability to mitigate (avoid) financial liquidation?
- 7. What other information would you like to add to the change management strategies you implemented to mitigate your company from business financial liquidation due to a lack of critical infrastructure?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

I grounded this study using a conceptual framework from the Kotter (1996) 8-step change management model. Kotter based his model on a staged, systematic, and strategic approach that gives clear guidelines to leaders for each step during change management implementation. Kotter studied over 100 organizations engaged in transformation activity, where he analyzed the differences between organizations that succeeded and failed, using features associated with failed transformation processes to formulate a model that gave solutions to those that failed the transformation efforts (Stoller, 2021). Wentworth et al. (2020) affirmed that Kotter's change management process remained relevant, reliable, and popular within organizations and change management research. Many organizations have used it with positive reports of success. The 8-step Kotter's

change management model provided the lens for creating the interview protocol and analyzing the data. Kotter's model steps include the following steps in this specific order:

- 1. Create a sense of urgency.
- 2. Create a core coalition.
- 3. Develop a vision and strategy.
- 4. Communicate and share a vision plan.
- 5. Empower employees to act on the vision.
- 6. Generate short-term wins.
- 7. Consolidate gains and produce more change.
- 8. Initiate and set new changes.

The Review of the Professional and Academic Literature section includes more detail about Kotter's model and research using the model.

#### **Operational Definitions**

Change Management Process: The process involves applying structured methods and tools to manage organizational change to achieve a desired business outcome. (Al-Alawi et al., 2019).

Critical National Infrastructure: Resources, services, and infrastructural assets having a severe impact on the country's society, security, and economy if damaged or destroyed (De Felice et al., 2022).

National Power Grid: The national power grid is an interconnection of all power entities in a shared pool to manage the generation, transmission, and distribution of electricity to all homes and businesses (Liu et al., 2022).

Strategic Management: Strategic management involves formulating and implementing the company's top management goals on behalf of owners by using assigned resources considering both the internal and external environment to sustain competitive advantage and create wealth and value (Palmié et al., 2023).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations are critical to peer-reviewed academic and professional research. The following paragraphs include the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of my study.

#### Assumptions

Assumptions are concepts of the study researchers take for granted and accept as accurate without any scientific evidence and cannot be verified scientifically (Brinkmann, 2016). My study's assumptions included the following:

- The participants' responses to the interview questions would be honest, truthful, authentic, and reliable.
- The participants understood the interview questions based on their experience in the organization and provided knowledge-based answers to all questions.

#### Limitations

Limitations are potential drawbacks of a study outside the researcher's control, potentially impacting the study's outcome and weakness (Queirós et al., 2017).

Acknowledging limitations helps readers evaluate the research findings for applicability and transferability (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). My study limitations included the following:

- Relatively few successful telecom executives exist in Nigeria, and thus,
   finding enough participants for the study was difficult;
- The competitive nature of the Nigerian telecommunication industry meant that some leaders may not have revealed trade secrets that successfully differentiate their businesses from others.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are a set of boundaries set by the researcher within his control to achieve the research objectives (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). The study results were delimited to Nigerian telecommunication organizations and should not be considered transferable to other countries' telecom organizations or industries in Nigeria.

#### Significance of the Study

This study was significant because it included needed insights for Nigerian telecommunication business leaders to develop and execute successful change management strategies to mitigate the lack of critical infrastructures in their businesses, such as poor power grid availability. In this study, I identified strategies successful

business leaders use to support economic growth and improve employment opportunities for telecommunication workers.

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

Telecom business leaders could benefit from this study's result, which could successfully provide change management strategies to mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure in the telecommunication industry. The practical study result could contribute to good business practice by successfully identifying the right change management strategy to mitigate the telecommunication industry's lack of critical national infrastructure.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The inherent economic losses coming from the lack of critical national infrastructure are very high; according to Olayinka (2021), Nigerian businesses lose \$29 billion annually due to inadequate power, and other impacts of the critical infrastructure deficiency. Over 90% of the telecommunication companies in Nigeria risk extinction by 2027 unless strategies to manage this deficiency effectively are deployed by business owners (Ajanaku, 2022). Mitigating this risk could create a positive social change in human and social conditions. More businesses could thrive, companies could increase the employment rate, the reduction of social vices because of unemployment would improve, and citizens could improve their living standards.

The study's findings could lead to positive social change by improving job opportunities for telecommunication industry workers or could help reduce the annual

losses suffered by businesses in Nigeria due to inadequate power supply, estimated to be \$29 billion by Olayinka in 2021.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

I conducted a pragmatic inquiry study to explore the change management strategies used by successful telecom companies in Nigeria to mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure. In this literature review, I examined, analyzed, and synthesized peer-reviewed literature on change management strategies and the business problem in Nigeria of the lack of strategies to overcome the national infrastructure deficiencies by the telecommunication industry. I focused on three main segments: (a) analysis and synthesis of the conceptual change management framework, (b) critical national infrastructure, and (c) telecommunication industry in Nigeria and other subsections, including the impact of critical national infrastructure, causes of critical infrastructure deficiencies and change management strategies to mitigate business liquidation.

Reviewing relevant literature and existing knowledge is the fulcrum for constant contribution to academic scholarship. Seeking perspectives from different and multiple researchers may help other researchers gain insight into the research question and help prove the quality and validity of the research (Snyder, 2019). In a literature review, a researcher needs to identify discrepancies, improvements, gaps, and contradictions in existing works and a path to build on the existing work toward improvement in academic research (Yarnold et al., 2023). I conducted this literature review to contribute to existing

knowledge and scholarship on change management strategies adopted to mitigate critical national infrastructure in Nigeria's telecom industry.

#### **Literature Review Search Strategy**

I reviewed the related literature for this study for insight into why critical infrastructure deficiency harms the telecom industry's survival and how telecom business owners strategize to mitigate the critical infrastructure deficit's impact on their businesses. The keywords that I searched included *change management, critical infrastructure, power-grid, Kotter's framework, strategy management, McKinsey 7S, Lewin's framework, Nigerian infrastructure, telecommunications.* I accessed the peer-reviewed articles through ProQuest Central, EBSCO Open Access Journals, SAGE Journal, and Thoreau. Ulrich web global serials directory was the primary verification source for peer-reviewed articles. Table 1 includes the number of peer-reviewed articles within five years for the research study, and Table 2 includes the same information for the literature review.

Table 1

Data for Research Study

Source	Total	Total within five	% within five
		years	years
Peer-reviewed	190	175	92%
Non-Peer reviewed Journal	28	17	61%
Total	218	192	88%

Table 2

Data for Literature Review

Source	Total	Total within five	% within five
		years	years
Peer-reviewed	108	98	90%
Non-Peer reviewed Journal	15	9	60%
Total	123	107	87%

#### **Analysis and Synthesis of the Conceptual Framework**

Researchers use a conceptual framework to provide the focus and direction to the knowledge of research exploration. Change management is a systematic approach that business owners use to change their businesses from the current state to a desired state to achieve organizational goals. The change model can be observed and executed in numerous ways (Khodeir & Nabawy, 2021) and is a comprehensive approach to achieving organizational change. Change management is a complete approach adopted to change the organization from a current situation to a desired one through a coordination process with the stakeholders (Hamdo, 2021). Change management is an inclusive approach that includes preparing, directing, and supporting employees to achieve the organizational desire for change (van Hilten, 2021). Change management models give business leaders the required guidance on enhancing their effort's effectiveness for a desired change within their organization or business (Hussain et al., 2018).

I used Kotter's (1996) 8-step change management model in this study. This model is used to understand the change and transition process. It is a stepwise, hierarchical model that gives clear guidelines for each step and bases itself on a staged approach and

change plan. The model is used by organizations to successfully implement change by providing a structured approach to address challenges encountered during the execution phase. As part of this literature review, I compared and critically analyzed Kotter's framework with other change management models, such as ADKAR, Lewin's theory of change, and McKinsey 7S change management. I did this to ensure that Kotter's model was the best to investigate change management strategies used by business leaders to successfully mitigate the business financial liquidation, which occurred due to a lack of critical infrastructure to support their businesses.

#### **Kotter's Change Management Framework**

Multiple researchers have noted that Kotter's change management process remains relevant, consistent, significant, respected, and popular within organizations and change management research (Wentworth et al., 2020). Kotter's change management process is applicable in healthcare, including executing a heart-failure disease management system (Casey et al., 2016).

Kotter's model works at both the micro and macro levels, and it works best when the change manager uses all eight steps in the order recommended (Baloh et al., 2018). Steps include the following:

- 1. Create a sense of urgency.
- 2. Create a core coalition.
- 3. Develop a vision and strategy.
- 4. Communicate and share a vision plan.

- 5. Empower employees to act on the vision.
- 6. Generate short-term wins.
- 7. Consolidate gains and produce more change.
- 8. Initiate and set new changes.

In the following sections of this literature review, I analyze literature and research studies that pertain to each of the specific steps of the model. I provide examples of how I documented the steps, highlighted them, or explained them in the literature review.

#### Creating a Sense of Urgency

Kotter's first step of the change process begins with creating a sense of urgency essential for any organizational change (Kotter, 1996). Researchers studying the Kotter process implementation have provided varying ideas about how creating a sense of urgency works in starting a change management project. When analyzing a change process at the University of Khartoum, Onia (2022) noted that the sense of urgency step folded into a generalized theme, create a change climate, that included other steps (i.e., setting a vision and creating a coalition). Eller et al. (2023) used Kotter's model to analyze healthcare system changes and found that creating a sense of urgency was a critical first step. They noted that referring to major medical issues, such as women having extensive bleeding during childbirth or bringing mortality report trends to the attention of the change team, will help demonstrate the need for urgent change.

In a federal health center in rural Kentucky, Carman et al. (2019) highlighted the application of Kotter's model in creating a sense of urgency to improve preventive care

service delivery and reduce health discrepancies among patients. Kotter's model was used to create a sense of urgency regarding the benefits and reasons for the change process in the medical program at Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin. Creating a sense of urgency was the critical step to successfully deliver the change process (Maaz et al., 2018).

#### Creating a Core Coalition

Philip (2020) argued that the successful application of Kotter's model in executing the quality improvement program in the Canadian surgical department, especially in head and neck surgery, showed a compelling reason for the Canadian hospital department to adopt the change process. This stage involves a coalition team, including executive leaders and volunteer employees with credibility, authority, connections, the right skills, and reputation to provide the expected change leadership (Mansaray, 2019). During the execution of the change process in the Canadian Hospital, Champion et al. (2017) identified two main issues: a quality gap regarding surgical site infection (SSI) and a communication gap within the team and they formed a coalition team comprising nurses, surgeons, and hospital administrators to solve these issues.

#### Developing a Vision and Strategy

The vision and strategy are blueprints that give a view of the organization's future after implementing change. Eller et al. (2023) developed the in-situ simulation (ISS) program to guarantee the safety of patients in the healthcare system. The program faces numerous challenges, from implementation to sustainability; however, Eller et al. used Kotter's model to identify missing critical components of vision development and

strategy of the program that helped deliver the program's purpose for healthcare. The University of Khartoum used Kotter's model to develop the vision and strategy for its change management process. It was critical to convince a staff member to participate in the change process (Onia, 2022). Leaders are required to develop innovative, measurable, simple, and achievable goals that turn vision into reality, and this prevents resistance to change by the employee (van Den Heuvel et al., 2017).

#### Communicate the Vision

An organization's vision needs to be shared and communicated with the employees in a well-coordinated and simplified format with a focus on the frequency of communication so that the employees would completely understand the changing motive (Kotter, 1996). Aitken and von Treuer (2021), Bayraktar (2019), and Busse and Doganer (2018) stated that clear communication throughout the change process enhances the perception of trust. Vietnam Ho Chi Minh City's private university's change management process was successful because it followed Kotter's change processes. Wentworth et al. (2020) highlighted the step of communicating the vision as crucial because the faculty realized that providing correct, apt, and accurate feedback when sharing goals with the team helped secure faculty buy-in. The faculty acknowledged the significance of transparency and communication during the successful change of faulty participation in a business school's accreditation efforts. The quality of change communication significantly influences the employee's commitment to change, which positively impacts

the change's success (Faupel & Süß, 2019; Ouedraogo & Ouakouak, 2018; Yahaya, 2020).

#### Empowering Employees to act on the Vision.

An employee requires the leader's support to remove all obstacles, such as lack of leader support, fear of persecution, and misaligned organizational structure to the change vision affecting innovation and recommendations (Kotter, 1996). Qatar Foundation deployed a change process using Kotter's change management process to analyze the barrier responsible for the unsuccessful implementation of the change process (Aronowitz et al., 2022). In Qatar Foundation, Kotter's change model helped determine a few barriers responsible for change failures, including fear, lack of uncertainty management, and the apprehension of criticism and uncertainty. Qatar Foundation's change process would have succeeded if Kotter's change model had been followed (Aronowitz et al., 2022).

#### Generating Short-term Wins

To demonstrate the practicability of change, short-term wins, and successes motivate the team to build on the momentum of the achieved short-term successes; it gives a sense of urgency that the vision is achievable and supports the achievement of the bigger and longer-term change goals (Abraham et al., 2023; Hee & Shanmugam, 2019; Kotter, 1996; Ong & Walker, 2022). Kotter's change model was used in a dental school in Vietnam to implement the change in dentistry education. Thi Thanh (2022) highlighted that the school's change process was a success because it generated the new change system in little bursts and generated short-term wins to gain the trust of the faculty

members. The dental school defined the short and long terms goals with the measurable metrics that define critical success for those goals using Kotter's change model.

#### Consolidating Gains and Producing More Change

The team sees all small successes recorded in the change process as a prospect to leverage on the drive and produce more change with optimized actions and initiatives so that the gains achieved before the change process implementation are not reverted. When the faculty of the Education University of Khartoum successfully engaged, enabled, and executed the change process using Kotter's change model, all faculty departments received information about why changes were necessary and the continuation of the change process in all departments (Onia, 2022). Similarly, several change processes were applied using Kotter's model in diverse healthcare sectors, such as the execution of nursing bedside handoffs in orthopedic trauma units and heart disease management system facilities (Casey et al., 2016).

#### Initiating and Setting New Changes

The last step in the process, initiating and setting new changes, involves anchoring the changes made to become a permanent part of the organization's way of doing things. It is the most critical step in creating a real practical change. Several small rural hospitals in Iowa, United States of America, used Kotter's model while implementing Team Strategies and Tools to Enhance Performance and Patient Safety (TeamSTEPPS). TeamSTEPPS is a comprehensive safety customizable program developed for patient safety by the US Department of Defense and the US Agency for

Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), where hospitals have complete autonomy in developing their implementation objectives and strategies. (Baloh et al., p.573) The change was piloted in a few departments, generating early wins and producing other reasons for further implementation across different departments. The hospital institutionalized the change process as part of the improvement process within the hospital safety framework and the process became part of the hospital culture (Baloh et al., 2018). The successful execution of the change process in small rural Iowa hospitals emphasized the importance of Kotter's change process and discipline in following all the steps sequentially (Baloh et al., 2018).

The following alternative change models were explored, compared, and analyzed with Kotter's model, including Lewin's, ADKAR, and McKinsey's 7S.

#### **Lewin's Theory of Change**

Lewin's theory of change has three major phases: unfreeze, change, and refreeze. The initial phase, unfreezing, includes the preparation for the next phase, which is the change phase, indicating when the actual change takes place (Lewin, 1951; Shaikh, 2020), and the third phase is refreezing, indicating the phase the change was acknowledged and executed (Davis & Fifolt, 2018; Rosenbaum et al., 2018). Lewin's three-step process has remained influential in change management research for several years (Eriksson & Fundin, 2018).

Paquibut and Al Naamany (2019) highlighted Lewin's model of change during the debut accreditation process of the High Education Institute (HEI) in the Sultanate of

Oman. The phases of unfreeze-change-refreeze hinged on a better perspective of the change process in the educational institution in the Sultanate of Oman. In the unfreezing phase, the HEI performed self-checks to identify all Oman Academic Accreditation Authority (OAAA) requirements and criteria for accreditation, including all requirements executed within the "changing phase." The result of the model was evident when OAAA accredited the educational institution (Paquibut & Al Naamany, 2019). Hussain et al. (2018) stated that the "refreezing stage" lacks documentation, an issue for organizations that are determined or committed to sustaining the change process.

#### Unfreeze

The first stage of Lewin's model involves preparing the organization to accept that changes are needed, embracing the change, and articulating, as a matter of urgency, the need for a change in the current status (Lewin, 1951; Shaikh, 2020). At this stage, effective communication is critical to getting the support and buy-in of the people in the change management (Galli, 2018). During the execution of a fall prevention improvement project in the United States of America, Igharosa (2021) used the model's first stage, "unfreezing," to determine the goals, expected barriers, and timelines for this project. Igharosa used these to communicate and educate the staff and all stakeholders regarding the importance of the change, which contributed to the successful execution of the fall prevention improvement project.

#### Changing

The second step of Lewin's model is the most critical stage because resistance from the team members is noticed due to a lack of acceptance of the change (Galli, 2018). The leader must empower the team to engage employees in this process and, dispel rumors through constant communication, identify a balanced approach to showcase the usefulness of the change to all the stakeholders (Amarantou et al., 2018; Lewin, 1951). Igharosa (2021) used Lewin's model (change stage) to analyze the change process during the fall prevention improvement project in the United States of America. Igharosa discovered the importance of the "change stage" of the Lewin model. Igharosa used this stage to determine the responsibilities of all staff members in implementing the fall program and all related actionable points.

#### Refreezing

The third step of Lewin's model required positive feedback, recognition, and encouragement of the employee to prevent them from returning to their previous behavior. Ribeiro and Kruglianskas (2020) asserted that this step stabilized the process through the implementation of the course of action by proper analysis. Constant improvement uses the results during the change process execution. Igharosa (2021) used Lewin's (refreezing stage) model to analyze the needed re-education for all staff so that implementing the improvement program could be fluent and stabilized.

#### ADKAR Model

The ADKAR change model was used to identify why changes are required and made and the necessary steps to make such changes successful (Shaikh, 2020). Jeff Hiatt developed the ADKAR model, one of this century's most used and known change management models (Agazu et al., 2022; Birbirsa & Worku, 2022). Al-Alawi et al. (2019) highlighted that 411 companies with effective change processes resolved that the main reason for resistance to change and change process failures was more understanding and communication about why a change was required and performed.

The Ministry of Education in Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) countries used the ADKAR model to detect the difficulties in change management. The results showed that effectively communicating the change to the stakeholders could reduce resistance to change (Al-Alawi et al., 2019). The change model's name is an acronym ADKAR: It begins with awareness of the change and the desire to engage, support, and contribute to the change. After the awareness and desire, providing knowledge to people about the impact of the change process, the ability to implement the individual required skills and behavior through an improvement in capabilities, skills development, and associated resources are critical in this stage; reinforcement is the last element, and this includes all actions required to sustain the change within an individual and organization and building the new culture necessary for the desired change (Cai et al., 2018).

After the merger and acquisition of Corus Strip Product (CSP) in the UK, the employees showed low optimism, mismanagement of resources, and poor logistical

issues within the UK. Bose (2020) highlighted that CSP change was inevitable because of the organization's inefficiencies. Executing the change process at CSP highlighted the importance of using the ADKAR model. During the first step of awareness, the CSP embarked on a campaign to demonstrate the need for a change to the employees and managers through a video recording of the poor working conditions and lousy environment at the plant. This awareness campaign helped the workers realize the importance of the change and helped to make a desire internally to support the change.

CSP arranged for several workshops to disseminate the message to all workers. During the change process, all participating workers empowered themselves by taking on a vital role while redesigning the plant control room to improve worker safety. This new role helped to build the ability and knowledge of the workers and improve their confidence level in terms of their capabilities to meet the required level of performance. CSP used video campaigns, billboards, and one-on-one discussions to reinforce these new changes as the organization's unique culture (Bose, 2020).

# **McKinsey 7S Framework**

Two consultants (Robert Waterman and Tom Peters) at the McKinsey consulting firm developed the McKinsey 7S model (Demir & Kocaoglu, 2019). It is a valuable framework implemented by many organizations to assess efficiency and productivity. The McKinsey 7S framework merged three hard and four soft change elements (Masilela & Nel, 2021; Westney, 2020). The hard change elements included the system, strategy, and structure, while the soft change elements included skills, style, staff, and shared

values, which generally take more work to manage (Park et al., 2021). The McKinsey 7S model could be applied in different organizations to analyze, assess, and monitor the change process within the organization.

The security and stability of airports are of great significance to the economy and government (Park et al., 2021). The 7S McKinsey framework was deployed in an airport infrastructure as a critical tool to evaluate and establish the strengths and weaknesses of the infrastructure, changes required for implementation leading to strategic reorganizations, system developments, resources skillset uplift through developmental training, and new acquisition of skill and knowledge (Park et al., 2021). The airport's strategic intent was to build a competitive advantage by merging a group of structures that is well-designed in a well-coordinated manner by introducing new flight routes, airlines, hotels, restaurants, duty-free shopping centers, and faster and more convenient delivery of information through electronic and information technologies. The airport systems were combinations of multiple companies and airlines, and making them function interdependently required new technologies and different professionals with various skills. This complexity comes with frequent changes of top managers as demanded by the dynamic of the competitive landscape. The airport systems included quality and control systems, check-in systems, baggage handling systems, in-flight entertainment systems, and security systems, which preserve the safety and stability of all passengers and personnel (Kukkamalla et al., 2020).

The staff and skill aspect of the airport organization is fundamental and crucial to delivering the demanded services. Employees with superior skill sets, capabilities, knowledge, and qualifications were required for continuous improvement of security and safety at the airport (Kukkamalla et al., 2020). Airport managers were responsible for showcasing a good image and brand to the external world, including all clients.

Lastly, the staff's commitment, professionalism in delivering high customercentric quality services, and a secure and safe environment at the facility demonstrated the shared values of the airport. The airport managers would influence the style as part of the model. At the core of each department was shared value, which included staff specialization, commitment, quality of services, safety, and security of the environment (Kukkamalla et al., 2020).

BMW decided to change its offering by integrating digital services into the market. The expectation was to generate revenue through the new revenue channel and expansion of the digital customer solution - ConnectedDrive services. BMW used the McKinsey 7S Framework to implement its new business model process. The company based its structure on the arrangement of the business transformation, allowing continuous monitoring of the digital service adaptabilities and the associated quality services improvement based on feedback from the customer (Kukkamalla et al., 2020). BMW's primary strategy was to improve its competitive advantage in terms of customer service offerings through collaboration with stakeholders like developers and third-party established IT firms (Kukkamalla et al., 2020).

The BMW digital services system was a product of innovation, such as intelligent personal assistants that helped drivers with all related driving issues and proactive engagement of customers during the customer service designing processes. The innovation led to meeting customer expectations through a collaborative relationship with the customer. BMW appointed an experienced staff to guide digital products and services. He created a "virtual innovation agency" that fostered an innovation hub from selected people for services development and start-ups for new development. The innovation hub offered research grants to institutions to develop products and services for BMW to meet the skill demand gap (Kukkamalla et al., 2020). BMW's commitment and motivation to innovation are from the top senior management of the company because of behavioral rollback processes if there is no sustained reinforcement and support (Bartholomeusz & Edirisooriya, 2021).

BMW defined its business transformation and style within the organization's cultural context. It moved from a conventional luxury car manufacturer to an innovative technology company with automated digital connectivity. BMW sensed the need for digital innovation services was new to the industry; hence, it had to hire technologically skilled resources from outside to lead this innovative project. In addition, it leveraged the collaboration of the technology eco-system like IBM and established IT firms to acquire new technological know-how, analytical capabilities, and skillsets. BMW's shared value was to create a new stream of revenue, better customer relationships, and expand digital

services. These additions played a key alignment role for all the other elements to sustain an effective organization (Arieli et al., 2020).

# **Analysis of the Change Models**

Each change model available for business practitioners or researchers has benefits and challenges. Many work better in specific circumstances than others. This section reviews all the discussed models, explaining the final choice of Kotter's model. The section highlights how ADKAR and Lewin's models map into Kotter's model and their differences while reviewing similarities and differences among all the change models.

Table 3 shows how the steps in Lewin's model relate to those in Kotter's model.

Table 3

Lewin's Model Versus Kotter's Model

Lewin's Model	Kotter's Model
	Creating a sense of urgency.
Unfreeze	Creating a core coalition.
	Developing a vision and strategy.
	Communicating and sharing a vision plan.
Change	Empowering employees to act on the vision.
C	Generating short-term wins.
	Consolidating gains and producing more change.
Refreeze	Initiating and setting new changes.

Table 4 shows how the steps in ADKAR's model relate to those in Kotter's model.

 Table 4

 ADKAR's Model Versus Kotter's Model

Adkar's Model	Kotter's Model
Awareness	Creating a sense of urgency.
	Creating a core coalition.
Desire	Developing a vision and strategy.
	Communicating and sharing a vision plan.
Knowledge and Ability	Empowering employees to act on the vision.
	Generating short-term wins.
Reinforcement	Consolidating gains and producing more change.
	Initiating and setting new changes.

Table 5 shows how the steps in the ADKAR's model relate to those in Lewin's model.

Table 5

ADKAR Model Versus Lewin's Model

ADKAR's Model	Lewin's Model
Awareness	Unfreeze
Desire	
Knowledge	Change
Ability	-
Reinforcement	Refreeze

Lewin's change model emphasized why people resist change and provided the mechanism to drive people to accept and support changes. In contrast, the ADKAR model primarily focused on the importance of people (Das, 2019). Finally, Harrison et al. (2021) postulated that the McKinsey 7S model focused more on identifying areas in an organization where leaders could implement change.

Most organizations widely use Kotter's model for the change process because of its versatility and proven track record for change success (Wentworth et al., 2020). It gives stepwise wins, which enhances confidence and boosts the team's morale, and it highlights the significance of quick wins that employees need to move to the next high level of employee engagement in the change process (Onia, 2022).

Rawson and Davis (2023) articulated that there are many change management models, but there is compelling limited evidence of choosing one model as being effective in all circumstances. Rawson and Davis proposed a framework that builds on the organizational preferred change management models based on the change and the environment that blend the main features between models. Lewin's model focuses on

change without considering the environment and leadership style. In contrast, Kotter's model focused on the cause of the failures, focusing on leadership and the people involved in the change process. Rawson and Davis's four-part framework includes:

- 1. identify the desired change
- 2. analyze the change
- 3. understand the organizational context
- 4. adapt the change model.

I used two cases to illustrate the framework, including implementing the standardized reporting template for clinical and radiological results and the COVID endemic leading to the remote working environment.

# **Case 1: Standardization of Reporting Template**

#### Step 1: Identify the desired change.

Over the years, there has been no standardized template for reporting the imaging findings and recommendations of the radiologist analysis; hence, standardizing this report is a leading change requirement to enhance efficiency and clarity.

#### Step 2: Analyze the change.

Change management could be viewed and analyzed as organizational change and focal change depending on different factors, including expected features change and additional infrastructures or tools. During the pragmatic inquiry study, the focal change perspective viewed the change as an isolated radiologist workflow that does not require input from other departments and stakeholders. However, with an organizational change

perspective, other stakeholders and leadership would be involved from the planning stage to the execution stage, and this could be seen as a loss of control by radiologists because they will have to follow all recommendations that did not come from them hence resistance would be built and need to identify and mitigate such resistance would require resources (Galli, 2018).

# Step 3: Understanding of the Organization

The change to a standardized template was made because of inherent problems with existing reports that need more efficiency, clarity, and the same level of understanding and interpretation across all the stakeholders. Understanding the need and involvement of all the stakeholders and the type of people within the organization that could be an influencer for or against the process will determine the success of the change (Amarantou et al., 2018; Ellis et al., 2023).

#### Step 4: Adapt the change model.

The result of the change produced a better understanding of the need for the change and an increase in the promoters of the change within the organization. The success of this change laid a foundation for adopting more changes to improve the department's continuous delivery.

# Case 2: The second case is during COVID-19 and transitioning to a remote working environment

#### Step 1 – Identify the desired change

During the COVID pandemic, it became challenging for many hospitals to keep all their staff working; hence, there was a strategic decision to adopt remote work for many staff.

## Step 2 – Analyze the change

The leadership team identified the change process as an organizational change, and the focus was on the digitalization of all the workflow processes and delivery, which was very rapid. Enormous organizational resources, including all stakeholders and leadership "buy-in," were committed for the process to be successful (Gaetke-Udager et al., 2023; Recht, 2023).

#### Step 3 – Analysis of the organization

Identifying all critical stakeholders according to their requirements and needs for remote work, ranging from furniture, workstations, training, internet bandwidth, and secure physical and virtual space for their clinical work, was a critical success factor for the change (Recht, 2023). The rate of change was rapid, with some challenges of some hardware equipment because of the logistical issues and adaptation of new software tools used to respond to the challenges of remote delivery (Al Fannah et al., 2022). During the pandemic, they modified the organizational communication model to adopt an incident

command structure where they defined roles, authority, and bi-directional communications to facilitate rapid changes.

# Step 4 – Adapt the change model

The nature of the change process during the pandemic was very rapid, and it involved incorporating elements from another change model to deliver the expected change.

Rawson and Davis's (2023) framework assumed that required skills to assess, select, and adapt to the type of change within the organization. Organizations with the right leaders and leadership skills to create and share the vision and resources to support the change would succeed in delivering the change. However, the limitation of this framework was that there is a high potential for complexity with the change impacting the organization's resources due to the high demand for resources. Hence, for a change to be successful, the right leader and leadership skills are required to create the vision and disseminate it to the team, allocating the resources for the change based on organizational priorities.

Bala (2022) highlighted the negative impact on business revenue because of ineffective change management strategies during research on "strategies to implement a change management process for public sector management in Nigeria." Bala articulated the focus area for ineffective change management strategies emerging from research, including company culture, leadership, communication, and behavior (Seamons & Canary, 2017). Ememe (2017) emphasized in a study on "strategies for managing change

in the Nigerian financial sector" based on semi-structured interviews with 30 practitioners in the Nigerian financial industry with organizational change experience that the importance of effective communication, culture, and leadership in change management success is critical. In his research "Implementation strategies for change initiatives," Jones explored strategies used by aerospace manufacturing managers in the Midwest region of the United States to implement successful changes (2019). Lewin's change management model and Kotter's 8-step change model grounded his research. Jones found that communication is one of the critical strategies for change management success. Some other studies indicated that these focus areas are essential to successful change management and mitigation against resistance within an organization, provided the proper process and policy are in place (Schwarz et al., 2021; Shulga, 2020; Vos & Rupert, 2018).

Edwards Brown (2020) argued in his research on "successful strategies to lead change initiatives" that business leaders who lack sustainable change management strategies are highly susceptible to business closure. He highlighted that some of the change management strategies used by business leaders to remain operational include improving communication, providing leadership, strengthening the organizational culture, and mitigating people's resistance (Galli, 2018; Rosenbaum et al., 2018; Vos & Rupert, 2018).

Omorodion (2021) discussed operational change management strategies used by business leaders in Nigerian refineries to remain sustainable and achieve operational

efficiency to mitigate business failures. He highlighted a few methods, including influential organizational culture, purpose-driven leadership, and people (Sweis et al., 2019). Omorodion (2021) further found that the dependency of the economy on fossil fuel and the lack of political will of the government to repair all Nigeria 4 major refineries, despite the allocation of billions of dollars over two decades, has pushed most businesses into a state of bankruptcy, especially that one required energy to deliver their services. He further proposed an operational change model as an alternative source of energy (solar energy), which is cheaper, readily available, energy independent, and less dependent on the government's reckless policies on energy delivery (Abdullahi et al., 2017; Heng et al., 2020).

Solar energy is thought to be the most adaptable energy source of all renewable energy because of its limitless potential, and it is abundant; it comes from energy radiated from solar energy (sun), and it is 3.8 x 1023kW/sec (Babatunde et al., 2019). Babatunde et al. (2019) highlighted that Nigeria collects 5.08 x 1012kWh of solar energy daily, which is available for almost 26% of the day. Ndagijimana et al. (2019) and Wakeford (2018) highlighted the importance of solar energy in Africa, especially in the rural communities and most urban cities in Nigeria, because of the unavailability of electricity from the grid. Other reasons include total independence from changing prices in oil markets, coal, gas, or external factors like war and international disputes that affect the oil price (Gaille, 2018). Gaille's (2018) research also found that the savings accrued to households that installed solar over 20 years is as high as \$30,000, demonstrating that

solar energy is more profitable over the years than other energy sources. Moreover, strategies common to change management are reviewed below, including organizational culture, communication, leadership, and behavior.

#### **Organizational Culture**

Lewin (1951) indicated that change management would be successful if the new culture became the way of life, an integral part of the change process in the organization, and a critical factor to consider when scholars were developing change management practices (Lovelace & Dyck, 2020). In her research, Bala explored different ways leaders used the existing knowledge of culture to promote organizational change despite various challenges of cultural change within the organization (Daniels & Tenkasi, 2017). Further viewpoints on the organizational culture showed that aligning the vision and strategy with action and the guiding principles to harmonize culture within the organization is very important to the success of the change management process. Bala (2022) failed to shed more light on this viewpoint using Lewin's model because of its limitations of cost and few details in identifying specific steps to implement change. However, Kotter's model provided more detailed steps to implement the change. Kotter clearly understood the linkages between the vision and organizational culture from steps three and eight of Kotter (8-steps), reinforcing the change management success dependency with sustained organizational cultural change and strategic vision (Galli, 2018).

#### Communication

Communication is an effective tool leaders use to deliver a successful change management process, and it is one of the most prominent strategies used in change management (Fronzo, 2018; Hussain et al., 2018). The direction of the communication flow must be bidirectional (top-down and bottom-up) with stakeholders; it must be about the change process to gather valuable information for the process, to mitigate the resistance, and must be continuous throughout the entire process (Arnaout & Esposito, 2018; Botez, 2018; Faupel & Helpap, 2021; Royce, 2018;). According to Petrou et al. (2018) and equally highlighted by Bala (2022), communication is a potent strategy used in change management to mitigate employee resistance and boost their morale towards adopting change management in an organization. Furthermore, getting employees involved through communication at the very early stage of the change management process is crucial to the success of the change management because it increases their buyin and participation (Ahmad & Cheng, 2018; Kanitz & Gonzalez, 2021). In their research, Seamons and Canary (2017) indicated how communication impacted team performance and job satisfaction during the change management process carried out in an ophthalmological surgical department.

Lewin's model could only highlight that during the change process, communication should be about change (Lewin, 1951). This statement was too vague and lacked a deep dive into communication strategy. Kotter's model (Step 4) delved into why communication is required, the frequency of communication, steps to be taken by

management, quality of communication, and channels of communication that are effective as per the organizational structure and size (Faupel & Süß, 2019; Kotter, 1996; Ouedraogo & Ouakouak, 2018; Wentworth et al., 2020; Yahaya, 2020).

#### Leadership and Behaviour

An organization's top leaders drive change management. The leadership styles adopted in the change management strategies must be adaptive depending on the organizational peculiarity (Germain, 2017; Kiran & Tripathi, 2018). Bosse et al. (2017) highlighted that a leader's role is to inspire team members to achieve organizational change and enhance employee acceptance through continuous support and mentorship. Bosse et al. (2017) raised the point that during the change management implementation, different leadership styles have other impacts on employees and, subsequently, on the overall success of the change management. Many scholars have analyzed different leadership styles and concluded that leadership behavior, styles, approaches, and characteristics drive leadership classification. Harish and Prabha (2020) emphasized that transformational and transactional leadership styles are the two most influential, popular, and effectively used in most recent organizational research work.

#### Transformational Leadership Style

Susanto et al. (2023) found that the transformational leadership style promotes employee's mindsets and reception towards change management, transcending from self-oriented to team and organization-oriented goal-oriented. One of the attributes of transformational leaders is the ability to adapt to different situations per the organization's

requirements during the change management process (Khan & Khan, 2019). The leadership style requires a high focus, goal-oriented, charisma, trust, and people's engagement in implementing change (Shulga, 2020). Akinbode and Al Shuhumi (2018) found that transformational leadership is a crucial driver for creativity, transparency, and openness during the change management process, which are precursors to its success.

The transformational leadership style functions with Kotter's (1996) 8-stage change model, using trust and motivation to get the employees to buy into the vision set by the leader. Tembo (2021) found that leadership is one of the most significant strategies adopted by Zambian business leaders who successfully sustain their business operations. One key recommendation from the research indicated that a transformational leadership style is recommended for the business leader who wants to succeed in change management implementation. The transformational style helps provide a sense of direction and align the stakeholders to a common goal and vision that facilitates organizational change success.

Tobias (2015) explored both Kotter's 8-step and Lewin's change management models. His study showed a significant research gap in Lewin's change model concerning resistance to change. Tobias assumed that the success of the change is the ability of the leader to change the behavior of the employee only, not considering the leader's behavioral change during the change management process as covered in detail with the Kotter model (8-step).

#### **Transactional Leadership Style**

Rewards and penalties assigned to employees per their performance are the basis of the transactional leadership style (Harish & Prabha, 2020). The transactional relationship is between the leader and the follower based on performance requirements placed on the follower from an organizational standpoint. Transactional leaders exchange rewards for meeting goals. If employees do not meet the goals, there is the possibility of penalty enforcement; hence, it is in the best interest of the follower to meet the organizational goals. Transactional leaders rely on authority instead of persuasion to maintain order in an organization (Bosse et al., 2017; Harish & Prabha, 2020).

Transactional leadership styles work effectively when a methodological approach is required to deliver a project quickly. Also, if the organization focuses on performance, transactional methods are not recommended when looking for a new direction and culture change (Harish & Prabha, 2020). However, when both transformational and transactional leadership styles are blended, the mix favors high organizational performance and task completion. This blended leadership style is known to be the best type of leadership; midlevel executives could use the transactional style for performance monitoring, while high-level executives could use a transformational style, which provides the proper guidance to the organization and inspiration to the employee (Harish & Prabha, 2020).

Bala (2022) further emphasized that one of the critical implementation strategies adopted for change management in Nigeria's public sector is using a smaller pilot group to test-run the strategy. Management can align the test run across the whole organization.

Research mentioned that this practice aligns with Kotter's sixth step (generating short wins) (Abraham et al., 2023; Hee & Shanmugam, 2019; Kotter, 1996; Ong & Walker, 2022). However, the research focuses on Lewin's model to ground the study, which is too simple and primary. A few critical success factors in change management, including the touch of leadership, people, and environment, are either evidently missing or not explicitly treated in detail in Lewin's model (Onia, 2022).

Kotter's model includes creating a sense of urgency for the change as the need for the change, shared vision, and communication of the vision to help galvanize change management (Williamsson et al., 2016). Lewin's model adopted for the research emphasized the need for change and leadership with both external and internal organizational impact. However, it is limited as compared to Kotter's model, which has a deep focus on the need for change (step-1), shared vision (step-3), communication (step-4), and leadership (step 5-8) in a well-orchestrated and structured manner (Oxenswärdh & Fredriksson, 2016).

Nicholas (2018) indicated an alignment between Kotter's 8-Steps change management model and four significant steps used during his research to explore strategies hospital leaders use to successfully implement electronic medical records (EMR):

- 1. creating a vision
- 2. communicating the vision
- 3. establishing strong leadership

# 4. consolidating gains.

Researchers working on change management in health care have adopted Kotter's change management model as the preferred change model (Baloh et al., 2018).

McKinsey's 7S model is useful by helping business leaders analyze and identify parameters within the organization that require change. However, incorporating all change levels is too complex and time-consuming; it focuses on skill development instead of the people side of change. Leadership will first require a complete understanding of the principles of change and then develop the necessary skill sets to adjust dynamically to the change implementation per the organization's needs (Galli, 2018).

#### **Decision Justification and Conclusion**

Kotter's model combined simplification and structure while positioning itself as an organization-wide and person-focused approach. Kotter's 8-step plan provided more clarification on how to implement changes, including the means to make the culture of the organization part of the change for the sustainability of the change process. The model emphasizes the need for top management's deep commitment to the change process from the beginning to get their buy-in and suggests a suitable approach to adopt when it comes to resistance from the team (Onia, 2022). Kotter's model efficiency and application across all business and corporate sectors from healthcare, education, services, and manufacturing is well documented (Baloh et al., 2018; Carman et al., 2019; Casey et al., 2016; Onia, 2022; Thi Thanh, 2022). Kotter's 8-stage model for leading change

provides a useful framework for analyzing, evaluating, and executing change management strategies that business leaders can employ to successfully implement organizational changes. However, some researchers insinuated that in Kotter's model, not all steps need an equivalent level of attention; if management skipped one step, the process was delayed and impacted project completion (Baloh et al., 2018; Wentworth et al., 2020).

#### **Critical National Infrastructure**

Critical infrastructures are those resources, services, and infrastructural assets that severely impact the country's society, security, and economy if damaged or destroyed (De Felice et al., 2022). The study focus was on electricity as a critical infrastructure. Adigun (2018) highlighted that electricity is one of the essential parts of critical infrastructure and is crucial to the survival of society. Electricity impacts all facets of the social fabric; it is a solution to the economy's security, including businesses, properties, and life.

Approximately 789 million people were estimated to be without access to electricity, a total of 1.14 billion people in sub-Saharan Africa (Alabi et al., 2022). In Africa, inaccessibility to electricity is the greatest challenge to the development and prosperity of the continent (Marwah, 2017). Despite the awareness of electricity's contribution to improving the quality of life in Uganda and the government's policy to develop power generation, there are still constant power outages and unreliable and inaccessible power supply (Wabukala et al., 2022).

In Nigeria, the infrastructure challenges, ranging from the disparate spread of electricity and intermittent power supply across the country, remain the critical factors mitigating the human and socio-economic development of the country (Adams & Odonkor, 2021). According to Ojo (2020), over 20 million houses are deprived of electricity, while approximately 84 million people's households do not have access to the national grid as of last decade. In 2010, there were 14 generating plants and about 13,000km of transmission infrastructure and distribution, providing approximately 5,000 MW, far below the expected demand of 21,000 MW of electric power (Ojo, 2020).

Electricity was constantly subject to vandalization and malicious saboteur attacks, resulting in irregular and non-availability of power supply, causing hardship to businesses and society (Adigun, 2018). Many countries, including Nigeria, have adopted several strategies and reforms to fix the power supply problems. However, all these reforms have yet to deliver the needed results due to government bureaucracy and inefficiencies ranging from misappropriation to corruption of public funds (Eberhard et al., 2018). The resulting plan to mitigate government dependencies is to privatize the electricity sectors. However, this strategy has often been unsuccessful because many individuals and companies opt to generate their electricity to meet their needs due to the unreliable and inadequate supply from the national grids in sub-Saharan African countries (Jamasb et al., 2017).

# **Impact of the Critical Infrastructure Deficiencies**

Over 80% of Nigerians use alternate and backup power sources such as generators and solar PV with inverters, while the diesel individual generators' contribution to the country's total power output is between 8 and 14GW (Heinemann et al., 2022). Nigeria is the highest generator importer in Africa and one of the biggest in the world, spending over \$14 billion annually on the installation, operation, and maintenance of generators (Babatunde et al., 2023; Heinemann et al., 2022). Power is critical to the growth of every economy (Adigun, 2018). Nigeria's deteriorating and dysfunctional power infrastructure has been a major factor preventing it from achieving its goal of becoming a top 20 global economy by 2020. The poor state of Nigeria's electricity systems and networks has hindered its economic growth and development (Banko & Onyekachi, 2020; Ebuh et al., 2019). Adesanya and Pearce (2019) showed that inadequate supply and lack of reliable electricity threaten the Nigerian economy.

The World Bank enterprise survey for Nigeria indicated that electricity is the biggest hurdle to doing business in Nigeria (Orjiakor, 2022). The erratic supply of electricity is one of the reasons why companies are shutting down; many businesses are resorting to self-help by generating their electricity through generators, which is very expensive to the economy and industry. (Kola-Dare, 2022). Businesses suffered an annual loss of \$29 billion in Nigeria due to inadequate power supply (Olayinka, 2021).

The impact of this critical infrastructure deficiency is that over 90 percent of the telecommunication companies in Nigeria risk extinction within the next five years unless

strategies to manage this deficiency effectively are deployed by business owners (Ajanaku, 2022). The contribution of ICT to Nigeria's GDP in Q3 2022 stood at 15.35%; hence, if 90% of telecommunication companies in the ICT sector are at risk, then the country's economy is at significant risk (Akintaro, 2022).

#### **Causes of Critical Infrastructure Deficiencies**

Critical infrastructure is vital to the economy because it comprises resources, services, and network infrastructure assets. Infrastructure damage would severely impact all citizens (De Felice et al., 2022). Railroad transportation is one of Argentina's critical infrastructures because of its contribution to its economy. The primary transportation system commutes citizens across the country to work and places of their choice. However, in 2001, during the financial crisis, the country went into sovereign default. Poor services and delays were everyday occurrences that occasionally led to unavoidable accidents with the loss of innocent lives, resulting in widespread violence and public disturbances (McCallum, 2019).

Vandalism and sabotage are other causes of critical infrastructure deficiencies resulting in a lack of electricity and loss of revenue to the power organization. Vandalism and sabotage are common threats to the power supply in Africa. A South African power line was blown up by saboteurs, causing several blackouts. On the 20th of November, 2015, nine states in Nigeria went out of power due to the vandalism of the Okpai/Onitsha 350 KVA power line, which resulted in a loss of 450MW of energy (Babatunde et al.,

2023; Emetere et al., 2021). The continuous failures of critical infrastructure are reminders that there is a need for its resilience (Cantelmi et al., 2021).

Babatunde et al. (2023) highlighted that saboteurs and vandalism are the primary reasons why regular power supply is unavailable in Nigeria. Saboteurs sell vandalized equipment back to the market, which creates a cabal of black marketers for stolen power equipment. This situation contributed to the current power crisis; below 4800MW is available to generate and distribute. 18.7GW (25%) is required for decent economic growth (Emetere et al., 2021). Njoku (2016) articulated that one of the most prevalent reasons for the epileptic power supply in Nigeria is pipeline vandals because pipelines transport gas to thermal power. Over 86% of the national power generation is from thermal power plants, which are dependent on gas supply.

## **Telecommunication Industry in Nigeria**

Former President Olusegun Obasanjo deregulated Nigeria's telecommunication industry in 2001, catalyzing the GSM revolution. This pivotal action marks the beginning of mobile telecommunications in Nigeria.

The first GSM telecommunication network operation began in August 2001 by two service providers called Econet Wireless (now Airtel) and MTN Nigeria (Oladimeji & Akinwole, 2018). In 2003, Nigeria gave Globacom a second national carrier license to commence operation, while the government granted additional licenses to Etisalat and Aliheri Engineering to start GSM in 2007 (Oladimeji & Akinwole, 2018). The telecommunication industry has witnessed a monumental surge in investments (more than

\$75.6 billion as of December 2022, according to Executive Vice Chairman of the Nigeria Communication Commission (NCC), Umar Danbatta (Aro, 2023). This investment has a corresponding impact on the sector's contribution to the country's economy. The National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) stated that ICT contributed 16.51% to the national GDP in 2022 (Akintaro, 2022).

The market segment share in the industry indicated that MTN remains in the pole position with 79 million subscribers, representing 38.36% of the market share. At the same time, Airtel came in second place with 58.1 million subscribers, representing a 28.21% share. Globacom has 56 million customers and is in the third position, representing 27.25% share. However, 9mobile occupied the fourth place with 12.6 million customers, representing a 6.14% market share. According to NCC, one of the main contributors to this revenue increase was telecom towers, which have increased from 30,000 to 53,460 within three years.

Despite the vast telecommunication sector's contribution to the GDP, the lack of infrastructure, such as power, remains a significant challenge preventing the industry from reaching its full potential. The dependency of the telecommunications sites' power source on diesel generators as an alternative to grid power has caused significant operational and financial hardship to the delivery of services (Ibhaze et al., 2022). According to the NCC, the operating expenditures of Nigerian telecommunication companies increased from №1.4 trillion in 2020 to №1.66 trillion in 2021 (Eberechukwu, 2022). However, in 2022, when the diesel cost per liter rose from №225 in January to

N750 in March, the annual price of telecom services power operation increased by 22% to N2.02 trillion (Eberechukwu, 2022).

Telecom towers are physical infrastructures critical to delivering wireless network coverage that enables wireless communication between users. Telecom towers require power, and the energy needed depends on the type of active equipment installed, the number of antennae, and other telecommunication equipment. Grid power guarantees the power requirement; if there is no grid power, alternative power sources such as diesel generators become a realistic option, as in the case of Nigeria (Islam, 2018; Modi & Singh, 2020). Mobile Telecommunication equipment comprises both active and passive equipment. The operational equipment includes a radio access network (RAN), core network (this consists of the mobile station center, home location register, network switching subsystem), and transport system (microwaves, active fiber equipment). It is responsible for 60% of the required power.

In contrast, the passive equipment includes physical structures (towers, shelters, aviation warning lights, lighting systems), power systems (diesel generators, grid supply, battery bank, automatic transfer switch), and cooling systems (air-conditioners). Passive equipment is responsible for 40% of the required power. The telecom towers' power requirement ranges from 1kw to 10kw, and it varies based on the number of radio access network equipment (RAN), diesel generators (DG), cooling equipment, and the number of the transport system (Deevela et al., 2023).

# **Change Management Strategy to Mitigate Business Liquidation**

The telecommunication industry faces a critical risk of survival because of a lack of infrastructure, especially power that is not readily available from the grid; the only alternative is to generate power through diesel generators, and this has a financial impact on the cost of doing business (Eberechukwu, 2022). However, one of the reasons why many telecommunications companies have collapsed in Nigeria is because of the unsustainable high cost of diesel and the cost of maintaining sites to run the operation of the business. These companies lack strategies to reduce the impact of the unstainable cost of running the operation caused by the deficit of critical infrastructure such as power in Nigeria. As the power demand for telecom equipment in the sector condinuously increases, the need for the only optional alternatives to grid power (DG) also rise due to the grid's lack of reliable power supply (Avikal et al., 2021).

The impact of the high cost of diesel and maintenance of the site is a significant risk to telecommunication operations. A risk management process involving five stages manages the risk. The five processes, according to Strapuc and Tudose (2018), are:

- 1. risk identification by listing the potential risk sources
- 2. risk analysis by examining the cause and effects of the listed risks
- 3. risk ranking according to the potential severity
- 4. risk treatment by applying strategies and corrective measures
- 5. risk situation assessment through evaluating the effectiveness of every stage in the chain of the risk management process.

There is a need for precise strategies to mitigate this risk, which need to be driven by the business owners. Change management for the organizational infrastructure and operations is required to minimize the impact of inadequate national infrastructure. The success of the change management process could be critical for the survival of organizations in today's highly competitive and complex business environment (Appelbaum et al., 2018).

Change management must mitigate key critical risks such as high diesel costs, operation costs for site maintenance, exposure to diesel, and DG theft. The sense of urgency is the risk of business liquidation due to the uncontrolled high cost of diesel, theft, and site maintenance. One recommended option was to convert all the diesel generator-powered sites to environmentally friendly renewable energy-powered sites (Jansen et al., 2021; Margaret Amutha et al., 2018; Muthusamy et al., 2021; Odoi-Yorke & Woenagnon, 2021; Podder et al., 2021; Zeljković et al., 2022). This option could mitigate uncertainty and unpredictable diesel costs, diesel theft, and high generator maintenance costs, reducing diesel consumption and its impact on the environment (Gandhok & Manthri, 2022).

There was also the option of changing the operation model from in-house management of the telecoms tower to managed service by third parties (Babatunde et al., 2023). This option would enhance the efficiency and quality of service because of the service level agreement (SLA) involved in the delivery (Odoi-Yorke & Woenagnon, 2021). The change management model would allow telecom businesses to focus on the

core business, including the sale of airtime and SIM cards. The model would allow businesses to predict income and expenses, have a near-perfect budget for the operation without colossal variation, and control the cash flow of the business finances.

Selling all telecom towers to tower companies constituted the third option. This action would transition the capital expenditure (capex) to operational costs, enhancing cash flow predictability. Employing Service Level Agreements (SLAs) would also govern service delivery and quality to prevent performance degradation. The revenue generated from tower sales could be reinvested in other business units, potentially amplifying profitability.

#### **Transition**

Section 1 incorporated the problem statement, the purpose statement, the nature of the study, the overarching research question, interview questions, the conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations. In addition, a discussion of the significance of the study and synthesis of professional and academic literature relating to change management and the telecommunication industry in Nigeria using Kotter's change management model as the conceptual framework occurred. Further, the study detailed an in-depth exploration and analysis of three other change management models that could apply to successful change. A critical evaluation of each of the models resulted in a determination that Kotter's change management framework most appropriately supported the proposed study, especially in light of how other researchers have analyzed and applied Kotter's model. Regardless, the interviews

and data collection process could prove more enlightening regarding which models most align with the participants' techniques and strategies.

Section 2 of this study, as required by the program's template, explains and justifies my role as a researcher and the logic in choosing the participants. The research method and design, sampling method, data collection instruments, data organization techniques, data analysis, and ethical research approach are described, along with comprehensive strategies to guarantee the credibility and transferability of the proposed research. Section 3 includes the presentation of the research findings and their application to professional practice implications for positive social change and recommendations for future study and reflection.

# Section 2: The Project

The lack of critical infrastructure is a considerable risk to the survival of businesses in Nigeria, and it hurts the overall prosperity of companies in Nigeria (Adigun, 2018; Ajanaku, 2022). Nigerian businesses must improve change management strategies. This section includes a description of my role as the researcher and the research method and design, sampling method, data collection instruments, data organization techniques, and methods adopted for the data analysis and organization.

#### **Purpose Statement**

In this pragmatic inquiry study, I identified and investigated the change management strategies used by successful telecom companies in Nigeria to mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure. The findings of this study could lead to a positive social change effect on the economy as successful change management could lead to more stable employment of local citizens and mitigate the adverse impacts of business liquidation due to lack of critical infrastructure, thereby creating benefits for all the citizens.

#### Role of the Researcher

Researchers in qualitative studies are the primary data collection and analysis instruments because they initiated and conducted the research (Clark & Veale, 2018). My role as the capstone study researcher was to gather information, formulate the research questions, conduct interviews, compose the sample, select participants for the research, collect data, analyze data, create themes, and present findings, implications, and

recommendations (see Karagiozis, 2018; Kross & Giust, 2019). Qualitative research can produce a high probability of bias because of the researcher's familiarity, which can influence the validity and reliability of the study due to their personal views, beliefs, interests, and principles (Wadams & Park, 2018).

I explored successful change strategies business leaders in Nigeria's telecommunication industry used to mitigate the need for critical national infrastructure. The problem that I identified was that many business executives in telecommunication companies in Nigeria needed more change management strategies to mitigate the lack of vital infrastructure to avoid business financial liquidation.

I was the instrument for this research; hence, I selected the methodology, design, participant selection and conceptual framework, data collection method, analysis, and reporting. Further, I collected all data personally. My expertise and proficiency in the research topic enabled the preparation for this research. I am an executive vice president of a telecommunication company that has successfully implemented extensive enterprise change management, an agile framework enterprise-scaled professional consultant (SAFe-SPC), and a master lean black belt professional. Further, I conducted a qualitative inquiry project for my master's degree program and have experience interviewing as part of the data collection methodology.

I followed suggestions by Wadams and Park (2018) on how to mitigate personal bias. Those suggestions included using a set interview protocol, member checking (validating the interview data with the participant), bracketing (isolating my personal

beliefs, views, and previous experience from the research process), and viewing collected data through an objective lens instead of a subjective one. I used the epoché principle of focusing on fresh perspectives during the research. I used bracketing to identify and isolate my biases through journaling and meeting with my chair to discuss potentially biased reactions to data.

After securing the approval of Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB), I proceeded with the interviews. I only conducted interviews with all the participants who met the selection criteria to ensure creditability to my research study. During the interview process, I used Zoom to record the interview. I used NVivo to collect, organize, store, and preliminarily code the transcripts.

The responsibility of the research ethics after publication solely rests on the researcher. The researcher must ensure that the participants felt secure, that no risk or harm was respected, and that the researcher respected their opinions during the interview (Shaw et al., 2020). In conducting this study, I fully adhered to the ethical standards and principles outlined in *the Belmont Report*, including guidelines for mitigating risks and potential harm to participants, protecting participant confidentiality and privacy, ensuring voluntary participation, and safeguarding against data compromise.

#### **Participants**

According to Yin (2018), researchers must determine participants per specific criteria defined before the start of the research, and the participants selected are required to experience the phenomenon of the qualitative study. The participants for this research

were senior business leaders in telecommunications who had successfully executed change management to mitigate the business's financial liquidation. The participants had solid knowledge about the telecommunication industry, critical infrastructure's impact on the industry, and business implications; they had been in a leadership role for at least five years and had successfully implemented change management strategies in the telecommunication industry.

To be included in my study, potential participants needed each of the following credentials or life experiences:

- 1. Worked at least ten years as a manager in Nigeria's telecommunication sector.
- 2. Participated in business decision-making.
- 3. Had a minimum of 5 years of senior operation experience with a telecommunication operator or infrastructure provider.

Exclusion criteria were that potential participants could not have returned their license within the past year or have been one of my employees, co-workers, or supervisors.

Accessing willing participants is a primary concern researchers face; some publicly listed companies will only allow their employees to participate if the company's board approval is secured. Informed consent is a voluntary choice to accept or reject participation based on informed information relating to the proposed research and its implications, and it is an essential condition to fulfill the principle of respect and justice according to the ethical research standard (Xu et al., 2020). Securing the participant's data

after obtaining their consent is a significant step in building trust and aligning with the ethical protocol (Jordan, 2018).

# Research Method and Design

Yin (2018) highlighted three research methods to use when one desires to answer a research question and evaluate the problem and purpose of a research project. In this pragmatic inquiry, I identified and explored the change management strategies used by successful telecom companies in Nigeria to mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure. I chose the qualitative research methodology to seek more profound insight into the participant's experience of the phenomenon under study.

#### **Research Method**

The primary research methodologies applied in social science research are quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (Pathiranage et al., 2020; Strijker et al., 2020). Researchers use qualitative methods to understand and investigate human motives with non-numerical data. They also support the researchers in thoroughly investigating people or organizations to understand their existence in real-world situations (Mohajan, 2018; Yin, 2018). The qualitative method gives the researcher insight into a problem and interprets issues with non-numerical data (Twis et al., 2020). After considering all these attributes of the qualitative research method and my research mission, I chose qualitative research to study some business executives' experience in change management strategies to mitigate business liquidation successfully.

Researchers usually use the quantitative method involving numerical data, exploring the relationship between variables, and testing the hypothesis to respond to research questions (Bakar et al., 2018; Creswell & Hirose, 2019). The quantitative method measures the relationship between variables to assess significance or causal relationships, hypothesis testing, predictions, and generalizations on the outcomes (Bakar et al., 2018). I did not test a hypothesis or confirm a theory; hence, I did not use the quantitative method for my research.

The mixed method combines qualitative and quantitative research into a single study to investigate the research question (Bakar et al., 2018; Yin, 2018). Using a mixed-method methodology complements the limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods but is very expensive and time-consuming. Since I did not use numerical data nor test hypotheses, I did not use a mixed methods approach.

## Research Design

The quantitative research design includes multiple case studies, pragmatic inquiry, ethnography, and phenomenology design (Pathiranage et al., 2020; Yin, 2018). For this study, a pragmatic qualitative inquiry study design was used with at least two mobile network operators (MNO) in Nigeria to investigate the strategies used by business owners in the telecommunications industry in Nigeria to mitigate financial liquidation in their business due to the lack of critical national infrastructure. A pragmatic qualitative method was the best option to collect rich and in-depth data using interviews, allowing

solid and reliable evidence without a partnership agreement from any organization (see Delfino, 2023).

Other qualitative research designs include case studies, ethnography, narrative, and phenomenology. Multiple case study design allows the exploration, investigation, and explanation of a phenomenon within a precise context and perception of an identical group (Yin, 2018). Multiple sources, such as interviews and secondary data, including documents from the company, are used to analyze the phenomenon deeply (Ellis, 2021; Yin, 2018). In multiple case studies, the data collection is all-encompassing because researchers draw data from numerous sources such as direct or participant observations, interviews, archival records or documents, physical artifacts, and audiovisual materials, and much time is spent engaging with the participants (interviewees). The process is expensive and demanding in terms of resources and time and a partnership agreement is required. Multiple case studies offered a flexible approach to comparing and reviewing various data sources to mitigate bias and subjectivity (Diop & Liu, 2020; Pathiranage et al., 2020).

The ethnographical research method entails the study of the culture, beliefs, and behaviors of small groups of people who share a common culture over a prolonged period (Fusch et al., 2018; Hammersley, 2018; Mohajan, 2018). Ethnographical research design was not acceptable because I must investigate a small, related community's social settings, cultural beliefs, and behavior. Phenomenology design is used to understand people's perspectives on everyday life experiences regarding phenomena under study and

depict participants' personal experiences in any given situation (Qutoshi, 2018). A phenomenological research design did not apply to the research as lived experiences would not include the required and acceptable answers to the research question of what change management strategies successful telecom companies in Nigeria use to mitigate the impacts of the lack of national infrastructure on their businesses.

# **Population and Sampling**

The study population is defined according to the study's research question and is a subset of the population considered for the research (Aksakal et al., 2019). Numerous factors, such as time, resources, and cost, were considered when determining the study population's size. The sampling methods in qualitative studies include convenience, opportunistic, snowball, and purposeful. The research question and conceptual framework impacted the type of sampling I might use because the sampling strategy depends on the success or failure of any qualitative study (see Ames et al., 2019; Farrugia, 2019).

I used purposeful sampling to recruit interview participants. I selected four senior leaders in the telecommunication industry to become the sample from the overall senior leaders in telecommunications in Nigeria who have met the predefined criteria. Varpio et al. (2017) stated that saturation determines the final sample.

Data saturation determines when an appropriate sample size has been reached in a qualitative study and is achieved when additional data collection yields no new themes or information relevant to the research questions. I used data saturation to determine the

final number of the sample size. I transcribed each interview and performed member checking to establish data saturation accurately. As suggested by Braun and Clarke (2018), I confirmed that I had discovered no new information or themes before stopping the data collection.

#### **Ethical Research**

Ethics is a critical part of research, and researchers must strictly adhere to this throughout the research phase (Wu et al., 2019). Ethical adherence empowers the researcher to prevent ethical or conflict issues with a participant; it enhances reliability, ethical practices, behavior, and trust (Yin, 2018).

Obtaining a signed informed consent was the first significant step toward adhering to ethical standards. Informed consent protects the participants' interests (Widmer et al., 2020; Zulu et al., 2019). The informed consent document elicited the willingness of the participant to partake in the research after fully understanding the study, including the associated risks and all benefits of the research. The document also included the right of the participant to withdraw either verbally or in writing without any risk to the participant and also no financial compensation for participating in the interview, as recommended by Meetei (2019). I secured Walden University's IRB approval (approval number 09-08-23-0996105) before I sent the informed consent form. All participants signed the form.

The Belmont Report (National Commission on the Protection of Biomedical and Behavioral Research in 1979) highlighted respect for individuals, benevolence, and

fairness as fundamental ethical principles (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). The report articulated three guiding principles to support the researcher during the research process. The first princple was to ensure respect was accorded to all by sharing all required information with the participants before participating. The second guideline was to appraise the inherent risk posed to all participants. The final guiding principle was ensuring the whole population shared the research risk. I aligned with all the guidelines provided by *The Belmont Report* during my research.

Identity and privacy protection should be prioritized during the research, ensuring the researcher mitigates identity mismanagement risk. I used a coding system represented the participant's name and company (see Maxwell, 2019) and protected the confidentiality of the information shared by storing the data in a secured repository for five years and destroying it afterward, as stipulated by Walden University.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

Scharp and Sanders (2019) highlighted that the researcher is the primary instrument for gathering and examining data. I was the primary research instrument for the data collection for this qualitative research. Yin (2018) highlighted six approaches for data collection, including interviewing, investigating the records, dispensing surveys, personal observation, researching archival documents, or using physical objects.

The interview is a widely used data collection method in qualitative research because it generates rich data and provides transparency in getting participants' real-time perspective of the research's focus (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019; Iyamu, 2018; Kegler

et al., 2019). Consequently, I used semi-structured interviews through an audio teleconference with each participant to explore strategies organizations use to mitigate the business's financial liquidation due to a lack of critical infrastructure. The interview process was between 45-60 minutes per participant, and there was an opportunity to extend the timeslot if needed. The need for reliable and stable internet was paramount because the interview mode was audio-conferencing, not face-to-face. I followed DeJonckheere and Vaughn's (2019) recommendation to share this need with all the participants.

Using an interview protocol during qualitative research to ensure consistency, focus, visibility, and transparency during the data collection process assists with obtaining quality data from interviews (Creswell & Hirose, 2019; Yeong et al., 2018; Yin, 2018). Thus, I used interview protocol with all participants to ensure that I maintained the interview structure, that participants understood all the questions, and were focused on the study's purpose, as McGrath et al. (2019) recommended. I clarified any questions that required clarification from all participants.

One of the strategies to mitigate objectivity and enrich the quality of my research study is to use data triangulation and member checking as credibility tools (Moon, 2019). I could analyze the common and disparate themes and triangulate the interview data with the selected organization and academic research data as soon as I retrieved all the data. The organizations' documentation included the company's financial statements showing the capital and operational expenditures (Capex and Opex) plans.

# **Data Collection Technique**

In qualitative research, a researcher uses different data sources to enrich the reliability, trustworthiness, and integrity of the study. The techniques used for the data collection are also crucial to the research's success (Rivaz et al., 2019). Among frequently used data collection techniques in qualitative research are questionnaires, interviewing, and participant observation, but interviewing is preferred (Alves et al., 2021; Yin, 2018). I used a semi-structured interview guided by the interview protocol provided in Section 1. I selected the organization's document and research peer-reviewed academic research as required research data for this research. Researchers can use member checking and triangulation methods to verify the interview response's reliability (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019; Slettebø, 2021; Wadams & Park, 2018), a practice I followed. No pilot study was used.

Semi-structured interviews provide quality data acquisition by allowing the participants to talk while the researcher asks timely follow-up questions for further clarification of information (Iyamu, 2018). One possible disadvantage of the interview method is the accent barrier between the researcher and participants; however, member checking and transcription software can mitigate this disadvantage (Iyamu, 2018).

Before the interview process, each participant received the informed consent form by email. Once the signed consent was received, I emailed a scheduled Zoom audio interview link to all participants per their preferred date and time. The interviews continued until I reached data saturation. Zoom and NVivo software recorded and

transcribed interviews simultaneously; this mitigated any quality issues from the data collected and improved the member checking accuracy and efficiency (McGrath et al., 2019). Finally, after the end of the interview, I provided the transcribed report to each participant for their validation and accuracy of interpretation of each participant's response as per the member-checking process. In addition, I searched the company website on the Internet for information regarding the change management undertaken by the company.

### **Data Organization Technique**

The data organization technique provides readers with a clear understanding of how researchers conclude findings and the importance of constant data organization for a qualitative study (Todorov et al., 2019; Yin, 2018). The confidentiality of the participant must be protected using codes and a file stored in a secured location (Sutherland, 2020). The researcher assigned a unique code to each participant's file for confidentiality during the data organization process.

I used NVivo software to analyze the data. This software is a standard CAQDAS tool that enables researchers to store, organize, analyze, and visualize the research data into codes and transform them into themes (Cypress, 2017; Magny-Normilus et al., 2020).

All the documents and data generated during data collection, analysis, and conclusion were stored in a protected cloud from a reputable cloud services provider like Google or Amazon. I will keep all the data for five years after this study to protect the

confidentiality and privacy of the participants. Immediately after the fifth year of the research publication, all the data collected will be deleted as per the Walden ethical standard protocol.

I kept a research log of my research progress and process. I tracked interview requests, response dates, dates of interviews and dates of documentation reviews. In addition, I tracked my progress through my data transcription, analysis, and write-up. The log enhanced the credibility of my study. Table 6 provides the relevant dates and times of my research for this study.

**Table 6**Research Log for the Study

Date	Activity	
1/31/2023	Prospectus Approval	
08/16/2023	Proposal Approval	
08/24/2023	Proposal Defense	
09/08/2023	IRB Application Approval	
09/09/2023	Update call to all Participants	
09/09/2023	Invitation email sent to P4	
09/10/2023	Invitation email sent to P3	
09/10/2023	Invitation email sent to P1	
09/10/2023	Invitation email sent to P2	
09/10/2023	Invitation email sent to P5	
09/11/2023	P1 responded with Consent	
09/12/2023	P4 responded with Consent	
09/14/2023	P3 responded with Consent	
09/19/2023	P2 responded with Consent	
09/17/2023	P1 Interview	
09/24/2023	P2 Interview	
09/17/2023	P4 Interview	
10/1/2023	P3 Interview	
10/10/2023	Data Analysis	
Bi-Weekly	Meeting with Chair	
11/24/2023	Final member checking response	

#### **Data Analysis**

The data analysis strategies used for this study are qualitative coding, thematic analysis, and triangulation. The data for my research contained the company's documents, transcribed data from the interview, and peer-reviewed academic research. The data analysis process focused on themes that could provide critical responses to the research question of this research.

Braun and Clarke's model is widely used for thematic analysis in qualitative studies (Kiger & Varpio, 2020). The model has six phases:(a) gaining a deep understanding of the data, (b) generating codes, (c) identifying themes, (d) finalizing themes, (e) defining and naming themes, and (f) writing up the report. The most critical stage in data analysis of qualitative research is data content conversion into code for categorization and classifying those code categorizations into themes (Lowe et al., 2018).

The purpose of coding is to optimize the data without compromising the idea behind the original transcript. The primary objective of organizing codes into thematic categories is to establish precise sequential patterns that accurately reflect the research findings (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018; Clark & Veale, 2018; Lindgren et al., 2020; Scharp & Sanders, 2019). Themes are affluent, highly interpreted data that respond meaningfully to the research question (Vaismoradi & Snelgrove, 2019). I used Braun and Clarke's thematic model procedure to categorize, analyze, organize, and interpret data collected for my research, including interviews, company documents, and academic peer-review research into an informative data pattern.

Researchers working on qualitative research use software to support their coding, categorizing, and thematic analysis to generate themes and patterns (Williams & Moser, 2019). NVivo was used to find codes from the data, categorize the codes, and generate themes to understand and respond to the main research question. For my research, NVivo software helped me code and categorize while I generated themes from the research data.

Theme identification is not the end of the qualitative data analysis process; it is the foundation, and the data analysis should continue until the researcher reaches thematic data saturation (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018; Lowe et al., 2018). I concluded my data analysis by presenting the interpretation of the final theme and connecting all the findings to the research framework.

Researchers commonly use the triangulation method in qualitative research; it is a combination of two or more data sources that link the phenomenon under study. Triangulation provides the required validity, mitigates bias, trustworthiness, and consistency of the data and result, enhances attainment of the data saturation (Fusch et al., 2018; Natow, 2020; Santos et al., 2023). The triangulation method extracted the study data from various sources, including interviews, company documents, public documents (if any), and peer-reviewed academic research.

## Reliability and Validity

Reliability is about the correctness of a research study, while validity comprises confirmability and data saturation. Both reliability and validity are essential components of all research (Ertugrul-Akyol, 2019). Researchers use reliability and validity to ensure

research quality, precision, and dependability (Jordan, 2018). The qualitative research study uses four quality criteria, including transferability, confirmability, credibility, and dependability, to measure the quality and dependability of the research (Korstjens & Moser, 2018).

# Reliability

Reliability in qualitative research is the degree to which a researcher produces a finding that is accurate, consistent, stable, and dependable (Veliu et al., 2018). Reliability is also the measure to which the research could reproduce the same results if the same conditions, environment, and methods are applied (Abdalla et al., 2018; McDonald et al., 2019). In qualitative research, consistency and dependability are mutually inclusive with reliability; hence, dependability refers to data collection and measurement consistency by adopting openness during the data analysis to ensure the result's traceability (Nassaji, 2020). Member checking is widely adopted to certify the correctness, authenticity, and truthfulness of a research study through participant validation. Member checking refers to the researcher's practice of returning to the participants with the interpreted data derived from interviews, seeking validation and confirmation of the accuracy and significance of the findings (Caretta & Pérez, 2019; Fusch et al., 2018; Madill & Sullivan, 2018). My study used member checking to guarantee the research's credibility, reliability, and dependability.

# Validity

Validity in a qualitative research study refers to the extent to which the research instrument accurately showcases the issues or phenomenon that the researcher is studying, and the accuracy of the results from the study. Validity also showcases the appropriateness of the instruments, processes, and data retrieved during the research. In qualitative research, credibility, and authenticity of results significantly contribute to validity (Ertugrul-Akyol, 2019; FitzPatrick, 2019). I ensured that validity was established in my research by (a) onboarding participants with the proper knowledge of the research study, (b) collecting rich data relevant to the research using more than one method through triangulation, and (c) using member checking to ensure data credibility.

# Credibility

Credibility is the process that includes participants inspecting the data result for assessment through triangulation, member checking, interview, and sampling strategies to determine whether the findings accurately reflect the participant's lived experience (Amin et al., 2020; Campbell et al., 2020; Pearce & Sowa, 2019). Triangulation and member checking ensure credibility in qualitative research (Pearce & Sowa, 2019; Yin, 2018). For my study, I used triangulation to collect the research data from the interview, peer-reviewed research, and the company's data to ensure the credibility of the research study. I used member checking to mitigate researcher bias, purposeful sampling to enhance credibility, and an interview protocol to stay focused during the interview process.

## **Confirmability**

Confirmability in qualitative research pertains to ensuring the neutrality and precision of the gathered data through methodologies that allow external validation by sources beyond the researcher's potential biases (Haven & Van Grootel, 2019). Confirmability eschews the researcher's personal bias or opinion from the study and focuses only on the objectivity of the research result (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). It consists of eliminating all personal perspectives from the research and enlightening the interpretation of the information data collected during the study without focusing on individual views (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). I used the interview response, the company's document, and peer-reviewed research to provide high confidence in the study.

# **Transferability**

Transferability gives precise information and meaning to readers not involved in the study. However, the study could be appropriate to other circumstances and populations, and it is the researcher's responsibility to transfer the study's findings to other relevant circumstances and populations (Essa et al., 2019; Ferrando et al., 2019). I provided a detailed explanation of data collection and organization techniques, the research assumptions, limitations, data saturation, and participants' interview criteria, which helped readers determine the extent of transferability of my study to a similar phenomenon. Based on the limitations and delimitations, the transferability of this study

is limited to other Nigerian telecommunication business owners who seek to mitigate critical infrastructure deficiencies to avoid financial liquidation.

## **Transition and Summary**

This qualitative pragmatic inquiry study aimed to identify and investigate change management strategies some business executives in Nigeria's telecommunication companies used to mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure successfully.

Section 2 provided my study's research method, qualitative pragmatic inquiry study design, sampling method, and research ethics. Descriptions of how the research data fully complied with the standard ethical procedure from data collection to data analysis were included, along with methods to ascertain the proposed study's reliability, validity, and confirmability.

Section 3 includes findings on the change management strategies some business executives in Nigeria's telecommunication companies used to successfully mitigate the need for critical national infrastructure, as well as the purpose of the research study, its findings, and the application and implication to professional business practices and social change. Lastly, recommendations for further action and my experience and reflections as a researcher for this study are included in the conclusion and summary of the research study.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

In this pragmatic qualitative inquiry study, I identified and explored change management strategies that some business executives in Nigeria's telecommunication companies have used to mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure successfully. I reviewed related company documents and materials on the internet related to the strategies used by business leaders to mitigate the business financial loss successfully. I securely stored interview transcripts according to Walden University procedures, with NVivo software facilitating data analysis. Three main themes that emerged from the research data analysis were as follows:

- Business value: Created through a sense of urgency;
- Leaders use outsourced suppliers, vendors, and support mechanisms to overcome employee resistance to change and government failures; and
- Leaders saw the power grid instability as the most pressing need for multiple focused strategies to overcome the challenge.

Finally, I showed how the conceptual framework used in this study supported the emergent themes and how all the identified strategies aligned with the peer-reviewed literature for successful strategies on change management.

### **Presentation of the Findings**

The research question that I used to guide this study was: What change management strategies do successful Nigerian telecom executives use to mitigate their

business's lack of critical infrastructure to avoid financial liquidation? I conducted interviews with four business owners who, at the time of the interviews, had worked for at least 10 years in Nigeria's telecommunication sector, were at least 30 years old, had a minimum of 5 years of senior operation experience with a telecommunication operator or infrastructure provider, and had not returned their operating license within the past year. After receiving Walden University's ethics approval number 09-08-23-0996105 on the 23rd of August 2023, I contacted all participants with a consent form and received their signed consent forms through email. At the beginning of each interview, I reminded each participant that I would record the confidential Zoom interview. Each participant consented to proceed with the interview recording before the start of each interview. Following Walden University's protocol for participant confidentiality, I assigned each participant an alphanumeric code (P1, P2, P3, and P4) to protect the participant's. Each participant freely answered all the interview questions, shared their views, and expressed their experience and expertise on each question. NVivo software facilitated data coding and analysis, enabling the researcher to interpret the results comprehensibly (Yin, 2018). The interviews occurred between September 17th and October 1st, 2023.

Braun and Clarke (2018) described a thematic analysis process I followed. The following steps show their reflexive process. I started the data analysis process by reviewing the transcripts and listening to the recordings to ensure they were accurate and member checking was done by sending the transcripts to the participants to ensure accuracy. After ensuring the transcripts were accurate, I uploaded them into NVivo. I

used NVivo's word frequency tables to ascertain common terms, selecting the most common 50 terms that were not predetermined from my data (i.e., removing terms like participant, interviewer, etc.); I then reviewed those words to find codes (patterns of words and phrase commonalities). I coded the data, and then organized those codes into categories and noticed higher leveled and cross-patterned themes. I organized the codes, categories, and themes into tables and created word clouds using the NVivo functions. I reviewed these items and saw patterns of relational phrases and ideas that led me to describe subthemes. I leveraged the NVivo data searching function to assist with finding interview data that aligned with the codes and themes and provided those data.

Table 7 shows the core themes derived from the participants' responses and their frequency of occurrence. The initial codes, depicted in Table 8, led to categories of business value, outsourcing, and power unavailability, then themes. Meaningful themes regarding leaders' strategies to overcome the instability of the national infrastructure included the following:

- leaders created business value by instilling a sense of urgency in their organizational cultures
- leaders used outsourced suppliers, vendors, and support mechanisms to overcome employee resistance to change and government failures
- leaders saw the power grid instability as the most pressing need for multiple focused strategies to overcome the challenge.

**Table 7**Core Themes and Their Frequencies

Theme	Discussion Frequency	Occurrence Percentage
Business Value	31	17%
Outsourcing	37	21%
Power Grid Unavailability	111	63%

**Table 8**Codes and Their Frequencies

Name	Discussion Frequency	Occurrence Percentage
Sense of Urgency	11	6%
Value Creation	20	11%
Coalition of Leaders	6	3%
Communication	10	6%
Employee Resistance	9	5%
Governance	12	7%
Alternative source of power	27	15%
Foreign exchange devaluation	13	7%
Missing Critical Infrastructure	21	12%
Operational expenses	19	11%
Power Instability	15	8%
Rise in Cost of Diesel	9	5%
Rise in Inflation	7	4%

The following section includes a detailed discussion of each theme and its comparison with the conceptual framework that I used to ground the study. I used Kotter's 8-step change model as the conceptual framework for this study. My findings from this research study aligned with the conceptual framework and most peer-reviewed articles from my literature review. All the participants used at least three of Kotter's 8-step stages to implement their successful change management strategies in mitigating the

business's financial liquidation due to the lack of critical infrastructure to support their businesses.

# Theme 1. Business Value: Created Through Sense of Urgency

The first theme that emerged from the analysis was that leaders created business value by instilling a sense of urgency in their organizational cultures. This theme came from the category of business value, which stemmed from the codes/subthemes of sense of urgency and value creation. All participants explained that they created business value by instilling a sense of urgency in the organization regarding the need to change and react to changes. Thus, urgency remains an essential trigger for successful change management strategies. There are two subthemes under Theme 1, including a sense of urgency and value creation.

# Sense of Urgency

Bellantuono et al. (2021) argued that during the establishment of a sense of urgency, the first step for an organization is to realize that there is need for a change, and a need for leadership to communicate the urgency to other members. During this first step, leadership needs to share awareness of the dynamic nature of the market and its competitive landscape, including the potential threats and opportunities.

## P1 highlighted that:

Because of the cost of diesel and the currency forex situation, it is becoming challenging for us to operate and survive in this environment. We have to implement a change, which involves bringing in a hybrid solution. Also, we

introduced another Power as a service to our sites. This is to mitigate and reduce the CapEx and operational costs to the business.

#### P2 stated:

Telecom business today, or as always, relies heavily on power to power the 7,000 sites through which we deliver various services to our customers. This sort of infrastructure in many countries is something other than what telcos will worry about because, ideally, grid power is available very quickly for you to connect and pay for it. So, in Nigeria, the grid power needs to be increased. Sometimes, it is completely unavailable, and wherever it is present, it is unreliable. So, we have had to deal with the solution we provided to power our site for many years until we got to the point where we had to change how we power or provide power to the sites in our portfolio.

P2 also mentioned, "That is one you could see increasing urgency. Moreover, that is all creating a sense of urgency." P3 noted that:

When you start a business, when you come, you do not know how bad it is. Once you start to realize how bad it is. So one of the changes, the strategy was it usually when we. Deploy, or when we start the business, we expect specific infrastructure to be in place and somebody else to provide that service, and you use the service. So the first thing we notice is the changes we must start making. We had to create that value ourselves if we wanted to, then we had to create it.

#### P3 also stated:

So what that means is that power availability, especially for us that need it 24/7 in our sites and also in all our switching and data centers, we have to provide ourselves the means of generating power, which usually comes through diesel generators.

P4 stated the following during his interview regarding a sense of urgency: "So we saw that urgency that if we do not curb these operational expenses, we are going to run into liquidations in the future and will not be able to keep up to maintain our operations anymore."

#### P4 mentioned:

The very first management strategy that we use in mitigating financial liquidation is the urgency of a change we needed. We saw that, hey, the way because I work in the network unit, the network department, which is the factory floor.

# P4 also highlighted that:

As we can put it that way, because we have subscribers, over 60 million of them. So, to ensure that we mitigate liquidation because our operational expenses were going higher, rising even sometimes above inflation, we had to take some measures to drive down our operating costs urgently. So, urgency for a change is part of the strategy. The very first strategy is for the entire business to see. You know, we have to create that urgency for that, for that change.

P4 also stated, "As I said, the first thing that we did was for everybody from the CEO down to gate-man to see the urgency of why that change needs to take place." P4 also corroborated that "ever since we have been doing changes, we have been seeing that the business has been growing."

The first theme and the two subthemes showed the importance of the business value to the change management strategies and aligned to the conceptual framework used to ground this study. Eller et al. (2023) and Maaz et al. (2018) confirmed that creating a sense of urgency was a critical first step toward a successful change management strategy. Kotter (1996) highlighted that most companies could not execute successful change management because their leaders could not create a sense of urgency, and he articulated that this sense of urgency needs to be across the organization's value chain from top to bottom.

#### Value Creation

Value creation across an organization is possible when leaders use unique business models, such as structured change management, to develop strategies for attaining competitive advantage over competitors in the market. (Koc & Bozdag, 2017). Most organizations use change management to enhance their ability for value creation. The participants in this study reacted to questions about change management with value-creation-styled responses. Some examples include the following excerpts from their interview data. P1 explained that,

We are implementing this solution. Give me a savings of 1.2 billion annually after implementing this project. The thing we realize is that this is because the cost of the project was 358 million. Since I am speaking to you, it is more than 400 million per month. Moreover, with the current situation of the diesel cost, I would have been paying like 1.2 billion per month.

## P2 mentioned that,

From our experience, we have done a significant, we have done away completely on CapEx. So you would call it an avoidance in that regard, we have OpEx a saving of about 15 to 17% on OpEx in using this model.

The capex expenditure (CapEx) is the organization's long-term expenditure. In contrast, operation expenditure (OpEx) is the organization's short-term day-to-day expenses, and the significance of P2's comment on value creation is that the organization has an outright saving on the capex. At the same time, their Opex is optimized due to the new model.

#### P2 also stated:

Most specifically, if we had not implemented this change two years ago, about two years ago, we would be in more difficulty today to be able to source this diesel 100% requirement by site.

#### P3 mentioned,

We outperform ourselves year on year to date. So, as far as our P/L is concerned, we are moving up, and we still believe we will achieve all our targets by the end

of this year despite all these issues happening in the budget because of the change processes we have implemented and how we keep changing and evolving as the situation keeps changing and evolving also.

P4 raised the issue of value creation through change by stating

So, we had more subscribers onto the network, and invariably, we had more revenue. So our revenue has been growing year on year since we implemented this change.

P4 highlighted that "This has been growing to the extent that as of last year, we hit the two trillion Naira mark in revenue. These cannot be separated from the success of implementing the changes we did on our network platforms."

#### P4 also stated that:

Moreover, ever since we have been making changes, we have been seeing that the business has been growing. We live in a very dynamic environment. We are accustomed to changes as long as it is implemented via well-communicated strategies.

P4's comments showed that they implemented the concepts in Kotter's change management model about communication and urgency within their change strategies in a *dynamic* environment. P4's statements also showed notable relationships to celebrating wins in noting the company achieved its goals on the network changes and revenues (Kotter, 1996).

Using the word cloud feature of NVivo generated a clear visualization of the common words collected in the interviews. Figure 1 depicts the common words for Theme 1.

Figure 1

Word Cloud for Theme 1



# Theme 2. Leaders Use Outsourced Suppliers, Vendors, and Support Mechanisms to Overcome Employee Resistance to Change and Government Failures

The second theme that emerged from the data was that leaders execute an outsourcing model as part of the overarching strategy to mitigate the business's financial loss due to a lack of critical infrastructure. Outsourcing is a business strategy adopted by an organization through contracting out specific deliverables, including some organizational functions, to external parties to save cost and get a specialized skill set to focus on its core activities. The codes of the four coded sub-themes: communication, coalition of leaders, employee resistance, and governance created the outsourcing theme. All the participants stated that they created the outsourcing categories through communication and governance, while only three participants highlighted governance, and two mentioned coalition of leaders.

#### Communication

All participants highlighted the sub-theme of communication, and this result was significant, showing the critical role of effective communication during change management planning and execution.

#### P1 mentioned that:

So, the communication provided to the vendor was before we did have a diesel supplier. Sometimes, these diesel suppliers. Regarding pricing, we go back and

forth, back and forth, after it is set in their margin. Imagine it the day after. Again, the price will change the previously agreed number.

Yue et al. (2019) argued that transparent communication could enhance the readiness of stakeholders to embrace the change process, and this was corroborated by P2 during the interview, stating that "I think among the elements of this model, what stands out really for me, it is the element of communication. It is important to communicate very, very clearly and even repeatedly." P2 further corroborated the importance of communication during change management by highlighting below:

So, I had also to communicate and make presentations to the board before I got the approval to implement this. I will not see that as a challenge. Instead, I will see it as a gain coming under this model that it is something that comes on that communication. So, it was an unambiguous communication with the board and accepted.

Ahmad and Cheng (2018) argued that unambiguous communication reduces uncertainty during the change management process, and P3 added that mitigation for employee or stakeholder resistance is effective communication. P3 corroborated that by stating, "Making them understand the reason for the change and making sure in the process of the change was carried along that second of all, that interests are protected.".

P3 suggested that the engagement of the stakeholders is the right and fair thing to do for a successful change management implementation. "There is nothing else but engagement

during that engagement, and make sure that you are really fair to the employees when you do this movement."

P4 mentioned, "Even after this communication is going to them, there is strong communication about why we need to do all these changes." P4 added that:

So I had to map out my change strategy and how we communicate, you know, to fellow business leaders about what we need to do like the finance unit had to be aware of what is going to happen, the H.R. unit needed to be aware that we will be moving staff when we are implementing this change.

The communication subtheme/code aligned with Kotter's model used as a conceptual framework in the literature review to ground this study highlighted that communication is a critical factor for change management success, and effective communication through clear, unambiguous language reduces barriers to resistance during change management process (Fadzil et al., 2019; Karaxha, 2019)

# Employee Resistance

Employee resistance to change is mainly due to uncertainty, lack of clarity, fear of the unknown, personal loss, and lack of tolerance to change Robbins et al. (2019). Managers need to be prepared to mitigate the resistance to change by understanding and building the right relationship with the employees, engaging them on the importance and benefits of the change (Cai et al., 2018). P1 mentioned:

There are people with negative minds, of course. So you have to try as much as possible to win their consent. Moreover, it makes them understand that change is

inevitable. We have to acknowledge this change and the importance of the change and the change. We did that, and I got the buying of virtually everybody in the business.

## P2 argued that:

The challenge I had initially was from the vendor. The vendor refused to agree on the set objectives, the SLA I defined for them, and the availability because we had another solution for the gas solution: power as a service.

The change in people's status quo after much investment in the current system develops a natural resistance to organizational change (Ford et al., 2008). P2 highlighted, "Sometimes change, not even sometimes constantly changes. It is easily resisted. Change is uncomfortable.' However, when you are implementing such change, these sorts of vendors will resist it because they will lose out now."

The resistance behavior of the employee is the individual internal aspiration to have a psychological balance of security and control (Enders et al., 2020).

P4 corroborated this: "Employees' first response is this uncertainty about keeping their jobs. However, staff coming with their own culture into the new environment is a challenge".

This sub-theme aligned with Kotter's model used in the conceptual framework of this study. Kotter articulated employee resistance as one reason for unsuccessful changes and recommended effective communication as the right solution to mitigate this threat.

Bala (2022) stated that communication is a potent strategy used in change management to

mitigate employee resistance and boost their morale toward adopting change management in an organization. Furthermore, getting employees involved through communication at the very early stage of the change management process is crucial to the success of the change management because it increases their buy-in and participation (Ahmad & Cheng, 2018; Kanitz & Gonzalez, 2021).

## Coalition of Leaders

The success of the change management process in an organization depends on the right people, pulling together from the organization irrespective of the functional group they belong to, and forming a team that is well respected and supported by the organization's leadership (Wentworth et al., 2020).

# P2 highlighted that:

If you are going to build a team that will implement the change management that you would like to see, you have to continue to get support to remove all the roadblocks that could impede their progress during the change management process.

The coalition of leaders' success in change management relies on removing obstacles through effective communication and meeting the needs of the coalition team (Onyeneke & Abe, 2021). P4 corroborated this concept when saying," I have to get by in sort of like a coalition of all business leaders of all different units to see the positivity in the change that we want to make in the network department of the organization."

Both participants' comments supported the concept of Kotter's change management model about building a coalition of leaders as a necessary step for the successful execution of the change management model (Kotter, 1996).

#### Governance

Outsourcing has become an increasingly preferred model for cost saving, profitability enhancement, and efficiency for organizations due to the increasing business competitive landscape that remains dynamic and complex (Berry et al., 2021; Katato et al., 2020). While outsourcing presents numerous advantages, the persisting concern revolves around the potential risks, particularly in maintaining quality and preserving focus on the organization's core activities as crucial deliverables. To mitigate this risk, the aspect of governance becomes crucial to the success of the change management model called outsourcing (Katato et al., 2020)

One of the critical pillars for a successful outsourcing model is establishing a governance structure that includes the definition of roles and responsibilities and the decision-making processes, including setting up the governance board to manage outsourcing. P1 corroborated this pillar. "Nobody can implement any change without the change coming into the technical change management team. They reviewed with everybody in place if they are satisfied with the change to be implemented." Likewise, P2 also corroborated his statement, "I mean, it was obvious to me that the board is available as a support mechanism and also on good governance to hold you accountable.". P3

stated, "We had the governance at all levels. So what we tried to do is have the governance at all levels". P3 posited:

Besides, in the governance structure, we have a well-written contract and service level agreements (SLA) that show all the items in the scope of work, required or agreed-on quality standards, deliverables performance metrics, and associated penalties for non-compliance and, in some cases, the reward is also included to motivate the partner.

#### P3 said:

Transparency, clarity, and ensuring all the T's are crossed, and all the I is dotted when we are into contractual terms with vendors. You have to look at watertight agreements, how strict and definite cut out SLA and responsibility matrixes so that everybody is evident from the beginning who is responsible for what and who is doing what.

One way to measure the vendors' performance in outsourcing is through a well-structured regular meeting for performance monitoring where leaders compare the achieved SLA against defined SLAs, which gives clear visibility in identifying and correcting gaps in the form of issues. P4 corroborated this when he mentioned, "We are having weekly meetings to review how far we have gone with the change and the steps we took because we did not execute all the changes all at once."

The P4 statement also aligned with Kotter's model about generating significant short wins in the change management process (Kotter, 1996). Using the word cloud

feature of NVivo generated a clear visualization of the common words collected in the interviews. Figure 2 depicts the common words for Theme 2.

Figure 2

Word Cloud for Theme 2



Theme 3: Leaders Saw the Power Grid Instability as the Most Pressing Need for Multiple Focused Strategies to Overcome the Challenge

The third theme from the analysis showed that leaders executed alternative sources of power as a part of the over-arching change management strategy to mitigate the business's financial loss due to a lack of critical infrastructure such as power. The

codes from six coded sub-themes: foreign exchange devaluation, missing critical infrastructure, operational expenses, power instability, rise in the cost of diesel, and rise in inflation created the *alternative source of power* theme. All the participants agreed that all six codes are critical elements for the change management strategy to mitigate the lack of critical infrastructure. Using the word cloud feature of NVivo generated a clear visualization of the common words collected in the interviews. Figure 3 depicts the common words for Theme 3.

Figure 3

Word Cloud for Theme 3



# Foreign Exchange Devaluation

Dokubo et al. (2023) argued that foreign exchange rate fluctuation could severely impact imported products, such as critical raw materials for local manufacturing,

equipment, and diesel when the local currency (Naira) falls in value. All participants affirm the impact of foreign exchange devaluation on the change management strategies used by business owners to mitigate the lack of critical infrastructure. P3 corroborated this by stating, "You should know that this year has been fierce because of the inflation and the foreign exchange, the local currency (Naira) devaluation." The devaluation of the currency resulted in a rise in inflation, leading to a rise in the price of fuel and other essential commodities. The resulting impact is high operational expenses for the telecommunication companies.

All telecom companies are seriously concerned about the worsening forex situation and its impact on the cost of diesel (Dokubo et al., 2023). P1 stated, "So we use generators as the main source of power for our telecommunications sites. So and currently because of the cost of diesel and all so the currency forex situation." P2 corroborated the impact of the forex by highlighting:

However, because they are also imported, and it is imported mainly through the use of Forex, our service delivery and revenue generation is in localized currency so you earn in Naira and Kobo (Local currency). However, you provide some of the elements to keep the business running with the sourcing of forex. We have seriously devalued the naira in the last few months, a severe business concern.

These businesses had to spend more money to buy the same equipment and deliver services because foreign currencies are used by most for pricing. One of the strategies for telecommunications businesses to mitigate the impact of forex fluctuation is

to domicile all contracts and services in local currency. P4 highlighted, "The foreign exchange risk is what we are dealing with by renegotiating contracts and domiciled them in Naira as much as possible." P4 also stated:

We discovered that if we continue to run our contracts based on the dollar, which is now very, very unstable. Right. Furthermore, most of the time, it keeps rising. We discovered that doing business with that needed to be more sustainable. So currently, we are renegotiating all our contracts that are still dollar domiciled now to Naira (Local currency).

In the literature review, the impact of the lack of infrastructure, especially power, was highlighted as one of the leading causes of business losses in Nigeria. Power is not readily available from the grid but through diesel generators, and the financial impact of the cost of diesel on the business due to the foreign exchange devaluation is enormous (Eberechukwu, 2022). Companies had to restructure their services to local currencies to mitigate the forex exposure and move into the hybrid power delivery mode to reduce diesel consumption. The impact of foreign exchange devaluation is critical for business survival in Nigeria. Kotter (1996) highlighted that a sense of urgency is essential for successful change management within a business or organization.

### Rise in Inflation

Amadi (2020) argued that inflation is one of the macroeconomic policy drivers of growth. Inflation has a critical impact on the telecommunications sector in Nigeria, affecting the sector's consumer experience and operational cost. The main cost drivers for

operating expenses are the cost of the equipment purchase, maintenance, and energy; an increase in inflation impact directly affects these two cost drivers. The increased cost is passed to the end-users through a service tariff hike, impacting the service affordability to a specific part of the population's segment. P4 highlighted that:

So to ensure that we mitigate liquidation because our operational expenses increase was going higher, rising even sometimes above inflation, we maintained it at a controllable level every time, as long as it is lower than the rate of inflation, which is the CPI or the CPI growth of the country, then we are okay.

The rise in inflation severely impacts the energy cost because of almost 100% reliance on diesel for power generation to sites. P2 corroborated this with this statement:

Most specifically, in our case, if we had not implemented this change two years ago, about two years ago, we would be in more difficulty today to source this diesel 100% requirement by site, the reason being that there has been inflation. Inflation is relatively high on the product because countries import the refined products back into the country despite being an oil-producing nation.

P3 stressed the criticality of the inflation issue on the budget in his statement :

We looked at some things that have changed; for example, diesel prices had jumped from when we signed the contract; they allowed 300-350 Naira per Liter up and now have jumped to 1000 Naira per Liters.

The subtheme findings highlighted the sense of urgency seen from the rise of inflation on the operational cost, which aligned with Kotter's model used as a conceptual

framework in the literature review to ground this study and highlighted it as a critical factor for change management success.

# **Power Instability**

Avikal et al. (2021) argued that the power demand for telecom equipment and the sector is continuously increasing; the demand for the only optional alternatives to grid power is also rising due to the grid's lack of reliable power supply. Adesanya and Pearce (2019) stated that because consistent and constant power outages frequently characterize the Nigerian grid, many telecommunications businesses have resulted in self-help as captive power generation with diesel generators, which substantially impacts their business financials. P3 highlighted the dire status of the grid and what measures were taken by their company to mitigate this:

These are the kind of business we are into. We are in telecoms. The first thing we noticed was that there was no power. Power availability, especially for us that need it 24/7 in our sites and all our switching and data centers, we have to provide ourselves with the means of generating power.

P1 corroborated the dire situation of the power instability and unavailability in the country when P1 stated: "The situation that we have in the country on availability of national grid, multiple outages. So a public power supply is not is not in any way you can be able to rely on it". P2 further emphasized the criticality of this issue when P2 stated, "In some cases, it is completely unavailable, and wherever it is present, it is not reliable."

P4 highlighted a similar issue and the impact of the strategy implemented to mitigate the

power instability by stating, "We do not run generators 24/7 like we used to do before because in Nigeria there is no power. So we run. We used to run generators, you know, all through 24 hours, seven days a week."

The impact of the power instability on the finances of Nigeria businesses is well documented in the literature review (Gandhok & Manthri, 2022), and it is seen as a critical piece of sense of urgency to implement change management as a business to prevent business collapse in line with Kotter (1996).

## Rise in Cost of Diesel

The increase in insecurity and high inflation, which remains high at 16.9% in 2022 and over 23% in 2023, has impacted Nigeria's economic growth. The rise in diesel prices drives inflation and insecurity, linked to the high cost of all essential commodities like food and transportation (Gbolahan, 2023). Olalekan (2020) argued that every manufacturing business in Nigeria uses between 100 and 300 Liters of diesel per day to provide electricity because of the inability of the grid to provide power and Nigerians spend over \$14 billion on generators and diesel annually.

P1 highlighted that "due to increase in diesel price, the cost has moved from 300 million to 1.2 billion per month. So we discovered that there was a potential threat of rising costs of diesel as an example, for instance, and we had to quickly see what can we do to reduce our dependence on diesel". P3 corroborated on this, stating that "diesel prices that have jumped up from when we when we signed the contract, they allowed 300 - 350 Naira per Liter up and now has jumped to 1000 Naira per Liters."

Maluleka, 2023 highlighted that telecommunications companies had mitigated the rise in diesel cost by exploring cheaper and more efficient sources of fuel to provide power; MTN deployed three 1.1MW gas generators to power head office and data centers, the cost per kilowatt-hour (kWh) of CNG is 60% lower than that of diesel, this deployment gave a saving of approximately \$1million and over 110,000 liters of diesel year-on-year, and more importantly, it gave a significant reduction in the carbon gas emission to the atmosphere.

This theme (rise in diesel cost) is one of the leading causes of high operational expenses for telecommunication business (Olalekan, 2020), and this triggers a sense of urgency for business owners to mitigate this risk through change management model to the business operations and remain in business (Kotter, 1996).

## Missing Critical Infrastructure

Nigeria has an estimated population of over 200 million and is a major oilproducing country. However, it has a significant electricity problem due to acute
inadequate critical infrastructure, contributing to national economic woes and business
losses (Owebor et al., 2021). The availability of electricity is a significant catalyst for
economic growth and development. However, in the case of Nigeria, power infrastructure
is severely low, and this has led all businesses to resort to an expensive self-help option
of self-generating energy using diesel and generators (Akinyele et al., 2017; Adigun,
2018). P3 highlighted that "We use the infrastructure for power. The country has a

particular issue regarding power and is broken into. Generation transmission and distribution are right across the food chain. None of it is enough". P1 stated that:

So, while talking about critical infrastructure here. I would restrict my response to the situation in the country regarding the availability of the national grid multiple outages. So we use generators as the primary power source for our telecommunications sites.

P4 narrated what their company had done to mitigate this issue by stating, "We used to run generators, you know, all through 24 hours, seven days a week". The impact of this critical infrastructure deficiency is that over 90 percent of the telecommunication companies in Nigeria risk extinction within by 2027 unless strategies to manage this deficiency effectively are deployed by business owners (Ajanaku, 2022). This theme, missing critical infrastructure, is aligned with the literature review in this study. Using Kotter's model for change management to mitigate this risk by business owners is quite significant by identifying the urgency of this critical issue (Kotter, 1996).

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

This study aimed to explore change management strategies that some business executives in Nigeria's telecommunication companies have used to successfully mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure. Business leaders work in a dynamic, highly volatile, and complex, competitive environment that requires adaptive and dynamic change management strategies for survival (Jeong & Shin, 2019).

The findings of this study could contribute to business practices because they give business leaders professional practices on how to develop successful change management strategies to mitigate the lack of critical infrastructure to remain in business.

This study identified power instability as the most pressing need for business leaders to address through multi-focussed change strategies by outsourcing the operation to the vendors. Using Kotter's 8-steps of change management (sense of urgency) in all the value chain of the organization from top to bottom, leaders instilled business value. The study also highlighted strategies business leaders adopted to successfully implement outsourcing and alternative sources of power change, including effective communication, governance, and coalition of leaders. The study's results could also be a standardized change management template to enhance cost optimization and competitive advantage for business leaders in Nigeria who are facing challenges with critical infrastructure like power.

The study used Kotter's 8-step change management model as a conceptual framework; all participants highlighted the importance of a sense of urgency, a coalition of leaders, and communication in determining the success of implementing change management strategies. All these themes aligned with Kotter's 8-step change management models.

Business leaders may use the findings of this result to improve the effectiveness of their change management strategies to mitigate financial losses in their business.

## **Implications for Social Change**

Exploring successful strategies business leaders use to mitigate financial losses due to a lack of critical infrastructure is critical to Nigeria's socio-cultural development, especially in the telecommunication industry.

The contribution of information and communications technology (ICT) to Nigeria's Gross Domestic Product in Quarter 3 of 2022 stood at 15.35%; hence, if 90% of telecommunication companies in the ICT sector are at risk, then the country's economy is at significant risk (Akintaro, 2022). Businesses and communities could benefit from successful change management strategies and enhancement of organizational growth, performance, and sustainability, which could lead to more job creation, an improved standard of living, and prosperity for the people, which may reduce the crime rate, youth robbery, stealing (Akomea-Frimpong et al., 2018).

The government could benefit from a successful business performance through an increase in tax payment perceptive, and the government could use this tax revenue to build more critical infrastructure for the communities like roads, schools, and centers.

Implementing organizational change strategies that are planned and well communicated gives less resistance to employees and can enhance business profitability and competitiveness in the market (Rosenbaum et al., 2018; van Den Heuvel et al., 2017).

#### **Recommendations for Action**

The successful change management strategies have been a critical mitigation strategy to prevent the financial liquidation of many businesses in Nigeria because of the

lack of critical infrastructure. These strategies maximize the success rate of change management and reduce the risk of failures, as experienced by many failed businesses. All the participants in this study have successfully implemented strategies to mitigate the financial liquidation of their businesses. My recommendations for action could benefit business owners operating in Nigeria in planning, formulating, and executing change management strategies to mitigate the financial liquidation of their business. I base my proposed main recommendation for action on the result of this study, and it includes the following: (a) business value creation, (b) outsourcing, and (c) alternative sources of power.

The first recommendation is that business leaders in Nigeria should create business values by instilling a sense of urgency within the organization culture, where the business constantly scans for opportunities for change, creating awareness of the dynamism of the competitive market landscape, threats, risks, and associated business value. Thus, a sense of urgency remains an essential trigger and the first step toward a successful change management strategy (Eller et al., 2023; Maaz et al., 2018).

The second recommendation from this study is that business leaders should adopt an effective business strategy called outsourcing. The effectiveness of this business model depends on the practical usage of critical strategies, such as communication, governance, and coalition of leaders. The intent, vision, purpose, and benefits of the change in the business model need to be communicated clearly to all the employees, thus reducing employee resistance to change (Venus et al., 2019; Kotter, 1996). The business

leaders must pull together the right people from the organization, irrespective of their functional group, and form a team (a coalition of leaders) that is well respected and supported by the organization's business leaders (Wentworth et al., 2020). The business leaders must establish a governance structure that includes well-defined roles and responsibilities and the decision-making processes to manage the outsourcing business model so that leaders can provide visibility to all stakeholders on the deliverables for the model.

The third recommendation from this study is that business leaders should adopt alternative power sources like solar energy and hybrid power. Grid power is not reliable and available; hence, the preferred alternative is power from diesel-powered generators, which has a high impact on the business's operating expenses due to macroeconomic factors like inflation, global oil market fluctuation, and currency devaluation impacting the cost of diesel. These factors are entirely out of the business owners' control. Leaders can move entirely away from the diesel-powered generator as a power source. Adopting solar and hybrid power as alternative power sources is the right strategy to be implemented by business leaders to mitigate the financial liquidation of their business.

Mohammed et al. (2017) argued that many developed countries achieved stable electricity only after investing in solar power as an alternative source of power generation. Solar energy technologies are now affordable for more businesses and households in Nigeria, considering the country's position is above the equator with more abundant solar energy. Businesses have spent over 3.5 trillion Naira on running costs of

maintaining diesel-fueled generators in Nigeria. Approximately 60 million households use generators, thus making Nigeria the highest importer of generators worldwide (Ayodele & Ogunjuyigbe, 2015).

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

In this study, I conducted a pragmatic inquiry study to aimed to explore the change management strategies used by successful telecom companies in Nigeria to mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure. The results of this study could help business owners with valuable recommendations to mitigate the financial liquidation of their business.

The research has numerous limitations that further research could address. The first limitation is the sample size; there was difficulty in getting the right participants for the interview. Only four participants were possible. Researchers could conduct further research with a larger sample size and extent to the population in West Africa. Feehan and Cobb (2019) highlighted that researchers can widely spread the population data analysis by appointing a diverse group of participants.

The second limitation is the biases of the participants' responses, and the recommendation for further research is to use other research methodologies like quantitative methodology and online surveys for the research data collection. Different qualitative designs like multiple case studies may be useful as well. Future researchers might consider qualitative designs such as grounded theory, narrative, ethnography, or phenomenological design.

A final recommendation for further research is that doctoral researchers explore pragmatic solutions to fix the challenging critical infrastructure and its impact on businesses either through government or private investment in critical infrastructure.

## Reflections

My doctoral study process and experience were challenging, demanding, rewarding, and fulfilling. Studying in Africa was a big challenge, especially when I experienced the devaluation of my local currency. The exchange rate became a big issue. These conditions made it nearly impossible for me to continue, but I mitigated them and forged ahead to complete my studies. Some other challenges I faced were using APA in writing, finding peer-reviewed citations under five years as a condition in the literature review, and studying during the pandemic when my family and I were affected by COVID-19. I started with a multiple case study design but changed to a pragmatic inquiry. These were some of the experiences in my doctoral journey at Walden University.

It is essential to mention the incredible support I got from my chair, who was a great support pillar for the completion of this study; if she was not my chair, I do not know how I would have completed this study. My desire to see a turn-around in Nigeria's telecommunication sectors regarding the high rate of business liquidation guided my choice for the study. Overall, it was a great experience and reflection of my DBA journey at Walden University.

#### Conclusion

This pragmatic inquiry study explored change management strategies for successfully managing the Nigerian telecommunication industry's lack of critical national infrastructure. The study used Kotter's eight change management steps as a conceptual framework. The general business problem is that many businesses in Nigeria are insolvent, resulting in financial liquidation due to a lack of critical infrastructure. The specific business problem is that many business executives in telecommunication companies in Nigeria lack the change management strategies needed to mitigate the business financial liquidation due to a lack of critical infrastructure to support their businesses.

I interviewed four participants from the telecommunications industry who had successfully implemented change management, using data from the internet websites to corroborate data from the participants. I utilized NVivo software to organize and analyze the data, and three themes were identified. The first theme was business value: created through sense of urgency. The second theme that appeared was leaders use outsourced suppliers, vendors, and support mechanisms to overcome employee resistance to change and government failures. The final theme that emerged through data analysis was leaders saw the power grid instability as the most pressing need for multiple focused strategies to overcome the challenge.

The study indicated that business leaders used different strategies to successfully plan, develop, and implement change management. The implication of positive social

change and business practice include more job creation, the standard of living improvement, and prosperity for the people, which may reduce the crime rate, youth robbery, and stealing (Akomea-Frimpong et al., 2018), enhance business profitability and competitiveness in the market (Rosenbaum et al., 2018; van Den Heuvel et al., 2017).

### References

- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa*, 19(1), 66–98. https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Abdullahi, D., Suresh, S., Renukappa, S., & Oloke, D. (2017). Key barriers to the Implementation of solar energy in Nigeria: A critical analysis. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 83, 012015. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/83/1/012015
- Abraham, P., Hsieh, L. J., Buckner, E., Flores, E. J., Davis, M. A., Tamayo-Murillo, D., & Newton, I. G. (2023). Change management strategies toward dismantling race-based structural barriers in radiology. *Academic Radiology*, *30*(4), 658–665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2023.01.035
- Adams, S., & Odonkor, S. (2021). Status, opportunities, and challenges of nuclear power development in Sub-Saharan Africa: The case of Ghana. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, *138*, Article 103816. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnucene.2021.103816
- Adepetun, A. (2022, April 7). Nigeria's telecoms infrastructure gap estimated at \$136 billion. The Guardian. https://guardian.ng/business-services/nigerias-telecoms-infrastructure-gap-estimated-at-136-billion/

- Adelowo, A. (2020, March 19). Why 80 per cent of small businesses fail. The Guardian Nigeria News Nigeria and World News. https://guardian.ng/business-services/why-80-per-cent-of-small-businesses-fail/
- Adesanya, A. A., & Pearce, J. M. (2019). Economic viability of captive off-grid solar photovoltaic and diesel hybrid energy systems for the Nigerian private sector.

  \*Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 114, 109348.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109348
- Adigun, S. Q. (2018). Evaluation of protection of critical infrastructure in Nigeria. A case study of protection of power facilities in Abuja. *European Scientific Journal*, *ESJ*, 14(11), Article 80. https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2018.v14n11p80
- Agazu, B. G., Birbirsa, Z. A., & Werke, S. Z. (2022, October 12). *Leadership Models and Change Management: A Systematic Review*. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2075522/v1
- Ahmad, A. B., & Cheng, Z. (2018). The role of change content, context, process, and leadership in understanding employees' commitment to change: The case of public organizations in Kurdistan region of Iraq. *Public Personnel Management*, 47(2), 195–216. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026017753645
- Aitken, K., & von Treuer, K. (2021). Leadership behaviours that foster organisational identification during change. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 34(2), 311–326. https://doi.org/10.1108/jocm-01-2020-0029
- Ajanaku, L. (2022, July 25). Over 90% of telecom operators risk extinction.

- Thenationonlineng.net. https://thenationonlineng.net/over-90-of-telecomoperators-risk-extinction/
- Akinbode, A. I., & Al Shuhumi, A. S. R. (2018). Change management process and leadership styles. *People: International Journal of Social Sciences*, 4(2), 609–618. https://doi.org/10.20319/pijss.2018.42.609618
- Akintaro, S. (2022, November 24). *ICT contributed 15.35% to Nigeria's real GDP in Q3 2022*. Nairametrics.com. https://nairametrics.com/2022/11/24/ict-contributed-15-35-to-nigerias-real-gdp-in-q3-2022/
- Akinyele, D. (2017, July). Environmental performance evaluation of a grid-independent solar photovoltaic power generation (SPPG) plant. *Energy*, *130*, 515–529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2017.04.126
- Akomea-Frimpong, I., Andoh, C., & Quaye, D. (2018). Impact of fraud on Ghanaian SMEs and coping mechanisms. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 25(2), 400–418. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-05-2017-0050
- Aksakal, M., Bilecen, B., & Schmidt, K. (2019). Qualitative sampling in research on international student mobility: Insights from the field in Germany. *Globalisation, Societies and Education*, 17(5), 610–621.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/14767724.2018.1525282
- Alabi, O., Abubakar, A., Werkmeister, A., & Sule, S. D. (2022). Keeping the lights on or off: Tracking the progress of access to electricity for sustainable development in Nigeria. *GeoJournal*, 88(2), 1535–1558. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-022-

- Al-Alawi, A. I., Abdulmohsen, M., Al-Malki, F. M., & Mehrotra, A. (2019).
  Investigating the barriers to change management in public sector educational institutions. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 33(1), 112–148.
  https://doi.org/10.1108/ijem-03-2018-0115
- Alam, M. K. (2020). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection, NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 16(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Al Fannah, J., Al Harthy, H., Khamis, F., Al Awaidy, S. T., & Al Salmi, Q. (2022, March 22). Agile Teams and Lean Methods in a Tertiary Care Hospital During COVID-19 Pandemic. *Oman Medical Journal*, *37*(2), e363–e363. https://doi.org/10.5001/omj.2022.67
- Alves, K. Y. A., Rodrigues, C. C. F. M., Salvador, P. T. C., & Fernandes, S. D. (2021).

  Use of photography in qualitative research in the health area: Scoping review.

  Ciencia & Saude Coletiva, 26(2), 521–529. https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-81232021262.41052020
- Amadi, C. (2020). A critical review of the drivers of economic growth in Nigeria. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3919029
- Amarantou, V., Kazakopoulou, S., Chatzoudes, D., & Chatzoglou, P. (2018). Resistance to change: An empirical investigation of its antecedents. *Journal of*

- Organizational Change Management, 31(2), 426–450. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-05-2017-0196
- Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccination communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Amin, M. E. K., Nørgaard, L. S., Cavaco, A. M., Witry, M. J., Hillman, L., Cernasev, A., & Desselle, S. P. (2020). Establishing trustworthiness and authenticity in qualitative pharmacy research. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 16(10), 1472–1482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2020.02.005
- Anudu, O. (2022, May 2). Over 50 companies shut down over forex, power crises –

  Investigation.. https://punchng.com/over-50-companies-shut-down-over-forex-power-crises-investigation/
- Appelbaum, S. H., Profka, E., Depta, A. M., & Petrynski, B. (2018). Impact of business model change on organizational success. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 50(2), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1108/ict-07-2017-0058
- Arieli, S., Sagiv, L., & Roccas, S. (2020). Values at work: The impact of personal values in organisations. *Applied Psychology*, 69(2), 230–275.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12181
- Arnaout, B., & Esposito, M. (2018). The value of communication in turbulent environments: how SMEs manage change successfully in unstable surroundings.

- International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business, 34(4), 500–515. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijesb.2018.10014545
- Aronowitz, S., Furstenthal, L., Morris, A., & Roth, E. (2022, June 3). Fear factor:

  Overcoming human barriers to innovation. McKinsey.

  https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/strategy-and-corporate-finance/our-insights/fear-factor-overcoming-human-barriers-to-innovation
- Atoyebi, O., Chiedozie, I., & Onuba, I. (2019, November 12). 322 Nigerian firms shut down in five years. https://punchng.com/322-nigerian-firms-shut-down-in-five-years-wbank/
- Avikal, S., Singh, A. K., Kumar, K. C. N., Rajak, B., & Badhotiya, G. K. (2021). A decision-making approach for installation of telecom tower. *Materials Today:*Proceedings, 46(20), 11084–11086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2021.02.228
- Ayodele, T., & Ogunjuyigbe, A. (2015, November). Increasing household solar energy penetration through load partitioning based on quality of life: The case study of Nigeria. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, *18*, 21–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2015.05.005
- Babatunde, O., Buraimoh, E., Tinuoye, O., Ayegbusi, C., Davidson, I., & Ighravwe, D. E. (2023). Electricity sector assessment in Nigeria: the post-liberation era. *Cogent Engineering*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2022.2157536
- Babatunde, O. M., Munda, J. L., & Hamam, Y. (2019). How can a low-income household procure small-scale hybrid renewable energy system? *International Journal of*

- Energy Sector Management, 13(4), 1149–1172. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJESM03-2019-0003
- Bakar, A. H. A., Roosli, R., Kamal, E. M., & Rashid, Z. Z. A. (2018). A complete guide to academic research in built environment and engineering. Penerbit USM.
- Bala, M. Y. (2022). Strategies to Implement a Change Management Process for Public

  Sector Management in Nigeria. ScholarWorks.

  https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/12625
- Baloh, J., Zhu, X., & Ward, M. M. (2018). Implementing team huddles in small rural hospitals: How does the Kotter model of change apply? *Journal of Nursing Management*, 26(5), 571–578. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12584
- Banko, O. H., & Onyekachi, E. B. (2020). Corruption and democratic governance in
   Nigeria: An incompatible marriage for national development. *African Journal of Politics and Administrative Studies*, 13(1), 69–96.
   https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajpas/article/view/247619
- Bartholomeusz, R. A., & Edirisooriya, W. A. (2021). Impact of meaningful work on altruistic behavior of employees. *Proceedings of International Conference on Business Management*, 17. https://doi.org/10.31357/icbm.v17.5235
- Bayraktar, S. (2019). How leaders cultivate support for change: Resource creation through justice and job security. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral*Science, 55(2), 213–234. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886318814455
- Bellantuono, N., Nuzzi, A., Pontrandolfo, P., & Scozzi, B. (2021). Digital transformation

- models for the i4.0 transition: Lessons from the change management literature. Sustainability, 13(23), Article 12941. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132312941
- Berry, L. L., Letchuman, S., Ramani, N., & Barach, P. (2021). The high stakes of outsourcing in health care. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 96(11), 2879–2890. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2021.07.003
- Birbirsa, Z., & Worku, M. (2022). Green human resource management: A systematic literature review and future research directions. *International Journal of Organizational Leadership*, 11(3), 357–383. https://doi.org/10.33844/ijol.2022.60334
- Bose, I. (2020). The journey of change at Corus Strip Products, UK: A theory-based case review. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 17(1), 24–35.
- Bosse, T., Duell, R., Memon, Z. A., Treur, J., & van Der Wal, C. N. (2017).

  Computational model-based design of leadership support based on situational leadership theory. *Transactions of The Society for Modeling and Simulation International*, 93(7), 605–617. https://doi.org/10.1177/0037549717693324
- Botez, S. B. (2018). The aspects of communication in the educational organization: The communication contract. *Euromentor*, 9(2), 55–60. http://www.ucdc.ro/en/
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2018). Using thematic analysis in counselling and psychotherapy research: A critical reflection. *Counselling and Psychotherapy*\*Research\*, 18(2), 107–110. https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12165
- Brinkmann, S. (2016). Methodological breaching experiments: Steps toward theorizing

- the qualitative interview. *Culture & Psychology*, 22(4), 520–533. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354067x16650816
- Busse, R., & Doganer, U. (2018). The role of compliance for organisational change:

  Qualitative evidence from German SMEs. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 31(2), 334–351. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-05-2017-0163
- Cai, W. J., Loon, M., & Wong, P. H. K. (2018). Leadership, trust in management and acceptance of change in Hong Kong's Civil Service Bureau. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 31(5), 1054–1070. https://doi.org/10.1108/jocm-10-2016-0215
- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: Complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, *25*(8), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206
- Cantelmi, R., Di Gravio, G., & Patriarca, R. (2021). Reviewing qualitative research approaches in the context of critical infrastructure resilience. *Environment Systems and Decisions*, 41(3), 341–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10669-020-09795-8
- Caretta, M. A., & Pérez, M. A. (2019). When participants do not agree: Member checking and challenges to epistemic authority in participatory research. *Field Methods*, *31*(4), 359–374. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x19866578
- Carman, A. L., Vanderpool, R. C., Stradtman, L. R., & Edmiston, E. A. (2019). A

- change-management approach to closing care gaps in a federally qualified health center: A rural Kentucky case study. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *16*, Article 180589. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd16.180589
- Casey, C. M., Parker, E. M., Winkler, G., Liu, X., Lambert, G. H., & Eckstrom, E. (2016). Lessons learned from implementing CDC's STEADI falls prevention algorithm in primary care. *The Gerontologist*, *57*(4), 787–796. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnw074
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10(6), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Champion, C., Sadek, J., & Moloo, H. (2017). Strategic change in surgical quality improvement: The Ottawa Hospital comprehensive unit-based safety program experience. *Healthcare Quarterly*, 20(2), 69–71. https://doi.org/10.12927/hcq.2017.25231
- Clark, K. R., & Veale, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482–485.
- Creswell, J. W., & Hirose, M. (2019). Mixed methods and survey research in family medicine and community health. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000086
- Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research:

  Perspectives, strategies, reconceptualization, and recommendations. *Dimensions*

- of Critical Care Nursing, 36(4), 253–263. https://doi.org/10.1097/dcc.00000000000000253
- Daniels, G., & Tenkasi, R. V. (2017). Can we survive? A case of culture change and learning. South Asian Journal of Business and Management Cases, 6(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/2277977917696543
- Das, V. (2019). Comparative study of Kotter's and Hiatt's (ADKAR) change models. *Journal of Leadership and Management*, 15(1), 263–271. www.leadership.net.pl
- Davis, M., & Fifolt, M. (2018). Exploring employee perceptions of six sigma as a change management program in higher education. *Journal of Higher Education Policy* and Management, 40(1), 81–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080X.2017.1377970
- Deevela, N. R., Kandpal, T. C., & Singh, B. (2023). A review of renewable energy based power supply options for telecom towers. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-023-02917-7
- De Felice, F., Baffo, I., & Petrillo, A. (2022). Critical infrastructures overview: Past, present and future. *Sustainability*, *14*(4), 2233. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14042233
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Delfino, D. (2023). *The percentage of businesses that fail and how to boost your chances of success*. Lendingtree.com. https://www.lendingtree.com/business/small/failure-

rate/

- Demir, E., & Kocaoglu, B. (2019). The use of McKinsey 7S framework as a strategic planning and economic assessment tool in the process of digital transformation. \*Pressacademia\*, 9(9), 114–119.

  https://doi.org/10.17261/pressacademia.2019.1078
- Diop, K. A. S., & Liu, E. (2020). Categorization of case in case study research method:

  New approach. *Knowledge & Performance Management*, 4(1), 1–14.

  https://doi.org/10.21511/kpm.04(1).2020.01
- Dokubo, E. M., Sennuga, S. O., Bamidele, J., Bankole, O. L., Omolayo, A. F., &
   Banabars, T. M. (2023). A critical review of the Nigerian inflationary factors.
   International Journal of Arts, Humanities and Social Studies, 5(1), 41–47.
   https://doi.org/10.33545/26648652.2023.v5.i1a.46
- Eberechukwu, E. (2022). How customers will be affected by an 18.5% increase in telecoms' operational costs. Technext24.com. https://technext24.com/2022/06/29/rising-diesel-prices-may-affect-tariffs/
- Eberhard, A., Gratwick, K., & Kariuki, L. (2018). Kenya's lessons from two decades of experience with independent power producers. *Utilities Policy*, *52*, 37–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jup.2018.04.002
- Ebuh, G. U., Ezike, I. B., Shitile, T. S., Smith, E. S., & Haruna, T. M. (2019). The infrastructure–growth nexus in Nigeria: A reassessment. *Journal of Infrastructure Development*, 11(1–2), 41–58. https://doi.org/10.1177/0974930619872096

- Edwards Brown, L. S. (2020). Successful Strategies to Lead Change Initiatives.

  ScholarWorks. https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/8028
- Eller, S., Rudolph, J., Barwick, S., Janssens, S., & Bajaj, K. (2023). Leading change in practice: how "longitudinal prebriefing" nurtures and sustains in situ simulation programs. *Advances in Simulation*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41077-023-00243-6
- Ellis, L. A., Tran, Y., Pomare, C., Long, J. C., Churruca, K., Saba, M., & Braithwaite, J. (2023). Hospital organizational change: The importance of teamwork culture, communication, and change readiness. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1089252
- Ellis, P. (2021). Sampling in qualitative research. Wounds, 17(1), 128–130.
- Ememe, J. (2017). Leadership Strategies for Managing Change in the Nigerian Banking Industry. ScholarWorks. https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/4701
- Emetere, M. E., Agubo, O., & Chikwendu, L. (2021). Erratic electric power challenges in Africa and the way forward via the adoption of human biogas resources. *Energy Exploration & Exploitation*, *39*(4), 1349–1377. https://doi.org/10.1177/01445987211003678
- Enders, T., Martin, D., Sehgal, G. G., & Schüritz, R. (2020). Igniting the Spark:

  Overcoming Organizational Change Resistance to Advance Innovation Adoption.

  The Case of Data-Driven Services. *Exploring Service Science*, 217–230.

  https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38724-2\_16

- Eriksson, Y., & Fundin, A. (2018). Visual management for a dynamic strategic change.

  \*\*Journal of Organizational Change Management, 31(3), 712–727.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/jocm-05-2016-0103
- Ertugrul-Akyol, B. (2019). Development of computational thinking scale: Validity and reliability study. *International Journal of Educational Methodology*, *5*(3), 421–432. https://doi.org/10.12973/ijem.5.3.421
- Essa, M., Sayed, T., & Reyad, P. (2019). Transferability of real-time safety performance functions for signalized intersections. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 129, 263–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2019.05.029
- Fadzil, A. S. A., Hassan, R., Mohamad, S. J. A. N. S., Zainudin, M. I., & Ali, A. A. E. R. (2019). Towards a successful organizational change: The role of dialogic communication. *International Journal of Asian Social Science*, 9(1), 86–95. https://doi.org/10.18488/journal.1.2019.91.86.95
- Farrugia, B. (2019). WASP (write a scientific paper): Sampling in qualitative research.

  \*\*Early Human Development, 133, 69–71.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.016
- Faupel, S., & Helpap, S. (2021). Top management's communication and employees' commitment to change: The role of perceived procedural fairness and past change experience. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *57*(2), 204–232. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886320979646
- Faupel, S., & Süß, S. (2019). The effect of transformational leadership on employees

- during organizational change an empirical analysis. *Journal of Change Management*, 19(3), 145–166. https://doi.org/10.1080/14697017.2018.1447006
- Feehan, D. M., & Cobb, C. (2019). Using an online sample to estimate the size of an offline population. *Demography*, 56(6), 2377–2392. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-019-00840-z
- Ferrando, M., Hoogerwerf, E. J., & Kadyrbaeva, A. (2019). Qualitative research on the factors affecting transferability of digital solutions for integrated care.

  \*International Journal of Integrated Care, 19(4), 236.\*

  https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.s3236
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11(2), 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014
- Ford, J. D., Ford, L. W. and D'Amelio, A. (2008). Resistance to change: The rest of the story. *Academy of Management Review*, 33(2), 362–377
- Fronzo, C. (2018). Understanding change management: a clinical improvement programme to transform your practice. *British Journal of Nursing*, *27*(Sup6), S3–S4. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2018.27.sup6.s3
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Gaetke-Udager, K., Sandstrom, C., Robbins, J. B., Flemming, D. J., Flink, C., &

- Catanzano, T. (2023). Radiology training program lessons learned during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Academic Radiology*, *30*(4), 590–594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2023.01.009
- Gaille, B. (2018). 23 advantages and disadvantages of renewable energy.

  https://brandongaille.com/23-advantages-disadvantages-renewable-energy/
- Galli, B. J. (2018). Change management models: A comparative analysis and concerns.
  IEEE Engineering Management Review, 46(3), 124–132.
  https://doi.org/10.1109/EMR.2018.2866860
- Gandhok, T., & Manthri, P. (2022). Economics of stationary energy storage systems:

  Driving faster adoption for behind-the-meter applications in India. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 330, 129610. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.129610
- Gbolahan, O. S. (2023). An Overview of Nigerian Macroeconomic and Financial Development. *International Journal of Research Publication and Reviews*, 04(02), 877–887. https://doi.org/10.55248/gengpi.2023.42009
- Germain, J. (2017). Reflections on leadership: Theory, experience, and practice: National association for kinesiology in higher education 36th Dudley Allen Sargent commemorative lecture 2017. *Quest*, 69(2), 169–176.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2017.1302347
- Hamdo, S. S. (2021). *Change management models: A comparative review*. [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. *Istanbul Okan University*.
- Hammersley, M. (2018). What is ethnography? Can it survive? Should it? *Ethnography*

- and Education, 13(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10:1080/17457823.1298458
- Harish, K. A., & Prabha, B. J. (2020). Impact of transformational and transactional leadership behaviour on the organisational performance. *International Journal of Intellectual Property Management*, 1(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijipm.2020.10034105
- Harrison, R., Fischer, S., Walpola, R. L., Chauhan, A., Babalola, T., Mears, S., & Le-Dao, H. (2021). Where do models for change management, improvement and implementation meet? A systematic review of the applications of change management models in healthcare. *Journal of Healthcare Leadership*, 13, 85–108. https://doi.org/10.2147/jhl.s289176
- Haven, T. L., & Van Grootel, L. (2019). Preregistering qualitative research.

  \*\*Accountability in Research, 26(3), 229–244.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2019.1580147
- Hee, O. C., & Shanmugam, N. (2019). A review of human resource change management strategies in the digital era. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 9(3), 521–531. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v9-i3/5713
- Heinemann, G., Banzer, F., Dumitrescu, R., Hirschhausen, C. v., Neuhoff, M., & Ogechi Nwadiaru, V. (2022). Transforming electricity access by replacing back-up generators with solar systems: Recent trends and evidence from Nigeria.

  \*Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 157, 111751.

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2021.111751
- Heng, Y., Lu, C. L., Yu, L., & Gao, Z. (2020). The heterogeneous preferences for solar energy policies among US households. *Energy Policy*, 137(2), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.111187
- Hussain, S. T., Lei, S., Akram, T., Haider, M. J., Hussain, S. H., & Ali, M. (2018). Kurt Lewin's change model: A critical review of the role of leadership and employee involvement in organizational change. *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge*, *3*(3), 123–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jik.2016.07.002
- Ibhaze, A. E., Imoize, A. L., & Okoyeigbo, O. (2022). A brief overview of energy efficiency resources in emerging wireless communication systems. *Telecom*, *3*(2), 281–300. https://doi.org/10.3390/telecom3020016
- Igharosa, M. O. (2021). *Implementation of a fall prevention program for the elderly in a long-term care facility*. [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Walden University.
- Islam, M. S. (2018). A techno-economic feasibility analysis of hybrid renewable energy supply options for a grid-connected large office building in southeastern part of France. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, *38*, 492–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2018.01.022
- Iyamu, T. (2018). Collecting qualitative data for information systems studies: The reality in practice. *Education and Information Technologies*, *23*(5), 2249–2264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-018-9718-2
- Jamasb, T., Nepal, R., & Timilsina, G. R. (2017). A quarter century effort yet to come of

- age: A survey of electricity sector reform in developing countries. *The Energy Journal*, 38(3). https://doi.org/10.5547/01956574.38.3.tjam
- Jansen, G., Dehouche, Z., & Corrigan, H. (2021). Cost-effective sizing of a hybrid regenerative hydrogen fuel cell energy storage system for remote & off-grid telecom towers. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 46(35), 18153–18166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.02.205.
- Jeong, I., & Shin, S. J. (2019). High-performance work practices and organizational creativity during organizational change: A collective learning perspective.

  \*\*Journal of Management, 45(3), 909–925.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316685156
- Jones, J. L. (2019). *Implementation Strategies for Change Initiatives*. ScholarWorks. https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/6340
- Jordan, K. (2018). Validity, reliability, and the case for participant-centered research:

  Reflections on a multi-platform social media study. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, *34*(10), 913–921.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2018.1471570
- Kanitz, R., & Gonzalez, K. (2021). Are we stuck in the predigital age? Embracing technology-mediated change management in organizational change research. *The Journal of Applied Behavioural Science*, 57(4), 447–458.
  https://doi.org.10.1177/00218863217042896
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

- The power of reflexivity. *The International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies, 13*(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31
- Karaxha, H. (2019). The Importance of implementing changes in organizations.

  \*Romanian Economic Journal, 22(72), 25–36.

  https://doaj.org/article/c98f60d4bc514e93976feb9cd9662de7
- Katato, T., Leelawat, N., & Tang, J. (2020). Antecedents of the outsourcing relationship: a systematic review. *Engineering Journal*, 24(4), 157–169. https://doi.org/10.4186/ej.2020.24.4.157
- Kegler, M. C., Raskind, I. G., Comeau, D. L., Griffith, D. M., Cooper, H. L. F., &
  Shelton, R. C. (2019). Study design and use of inquiry frameworks in qualitative research published in Health Education & Behavior. *Health Education & Behavior*, 46(1), 24–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198118795018
- Khan, N. A., & Khan, A. N. (2019). What followers are saying about transformational leaders fostering employee innovation via organisational learning, knowledge sharing and social media use in public organisations? *Government Information Quarterly*, 36(4), 101391. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.giq.2019.07.003
- Khodeir, L. M., & Nabawy, E. M. (2021). Responsive human resource framework for design and building of mega housing development projects in Egypt. *Ain Shams Engineering Journal*, 12(2), 2371–2383.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asej.2020.09.025

- Kiger, M. E., & Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No.131. *Medical Teacher*, 42(8), 846–854. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159x.2020.1755030
- Kiran, C. S., & Tripathi, P. (2018). Leadership development through change management: A neuroscience perspective. NHRD Network Journal, 11(4), 42–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/2631454118800850
- Koc, T., & Bozdag, E. (2017). Measuring the degree of novelty of innovation based on Porter's value chain approach. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 257(2), 559–567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2016.07.049
- Kola-Dare, D. (2022, October 3). Incessant grid collapse: How to solve Nigeria's energy crisis the nation newspaper. *The Nation Newspaper*.

  https://thenationonlineng.net/incessant-grid-collapse-how-to-solve-nigerias-energy-crisis/
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, *24*(1), 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kotter, J. P. (1996). *Leading change*. Harvard Business Review Press.
- Kross, J., & Giust, A. (2019). Elements of research questions in relation to qualitative inquiry. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 24–30. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3426
- Kukkamalla, P. K., Bikfalvi, A., & Arbussa, A. (2020). The new BMW: Business model

- innovation transforms an automotive leader. *Journal of Business Strategy*, *ahead-of-print*. *42*(2), 268–277. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbs-02-2020-0021
- Lewin, K. (1951). Field theory in social science: Selected theoretical papers. Harper and Row.
- Lindgren, B. M., Lundman, B., & Graneheim, U. H. (2020). Abstraction and interpretation during the qualitative content analysis process. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 108, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103632
- Liu, J., Wang, J., & Cardinal, J. (2022). Evolution and reform of UK electricity market.

  \*Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 161, 112317.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112317
- Lovelace, K. J., & Dyck, L. R. (2020). Experiencing organizational change through the change management simulation: Power and influence. *Management Teaching Review*, *5*(1), 70–81. https://doi.org/10.1177/2379298118806678
- Lowe, A., Norris, A. C., Farris, A. J., & Babbage, D. R. (2018). Quantifying thematic saturation in qualitative data analysis. *Field Methods*, *30*(3), 191–207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X17749386
- Maaz, A., Hitzblech, T., Arends, P., Degel, A., Ludwig, S., Mossakowski, A., Mothes,
  R., Breckwoldt, J., & Peters, H. (2018). Moving a mountain: Practical insights
  into mastering a major curriculum reform at a large European medical university.
  Medical Teacher, 40(5), 453–460.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159x.2018.1440077
- Madill, A., & Sullivan, P. (2018). Mirrors, portraits, and member checking: Managing difficult moments of knowledge exchange in the social sciences. *Qualitative Psychology*, *5*(3), 321–339. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000089
- Magny-Normilus, C., Mawn, B., & Dalton, J. (2020). Self-management of type 2
  diabetes in adult Haitian immigrants: A qualitative study. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 31(1), 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659619841586
- Maluleka, A. (2023, September 23). From Challenge to Opportunity: MTN Nigeria's

  Drive for Sustainable Energy | MTN.com. MTN.com. https://www.mtn.com/from-challenge-to-opportunity-mtn-nigerias-drive-for-sustainable-energy/
- Mansaray, H. E. (2019). The role of leadership style in organisational change management: A literature review. *Journal of Human Resource Management*, 7(1), 18–31. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.jhrm.20190701.13
- Margaret Amutha, W., Harshini, H., & Rajini, V. (2018). A new green energy interface for telecommunications. *International Journal of Electronics*, 105(11), 1831–1854. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207217.2018.1485178
- Marwah, H. (2017). Electricity access inequality in Sub-Saharan Africa, 1950–2000.

  \*African Economic History, 45(2), 113–144. https://doi.org/10.1353/aeh.2017.0008
- Masilela, L., & Nel, D. (2021). The role of data and information security governance in protecting public sector data and information assets in national government in South Africa. *Africa's Public Service Delivery and Performance Review*, 9(1).

- https://doi.org/10.4102/apsdpr.v9i1.385
- Maxwell, B. R. (2019). Institutional review boards in qualitative research: Has it gone overboard? *Canadian Journal of Action Research*, 20(1), 52–70.
- McCallum, S. (2019). Railroad revolution: infrastructural decay and modernization in Argentina. *Tapuya: Latin American Science, Technology and Society*, 2(1), 540–559. https://doi.org/10.1080/25729861.2019.1688908
- McDonald, N., Schoenebeck, S., & Forte, A. (2019). Reliability and inter-rater reliability in qualitative research: Norms and guidelines for CSCW and HCI practice.

  \*Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction, 3(CSCW), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1145/3359174
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- Meetei, A. T. (2019). Informed consent form in local language: Challenges and issues in a multilingual study design among migrants. *Language in India*, 19(1), 39–43. ISSN 1930-2940
- Modi, G., & Singh, B. (2020). Solar PV battery based system for telecom tower application. 2020 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE). https://doi.org/10.1109/ecce44975.2020.9235854
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1), 23–

- 48. https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571
- Mohammed, Y., Mustafa, M., Bashir, N., & Ibrahem, I. (2017, August). Existing and recommended renewable and sustainable energy development in Nigeria based on autonomous energy and microgrid technologies. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 75, 820–838. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.11.062
- Molina-Azorin, J. F., López-Gamero, M. D., Tarí, J. J., Pereira-Moliner, J., & Pertusa-Ortega, E. M. (2021). Environmental management, human resource management and green human resource management: A literature review. *Administrative Sciences*, 11(2), 1–17.
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A method to increase validity, reliability, and legitimation in clinical research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(1), 103–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004
- Muthusamy, K., Muthusamy, M., Kaur, R., & Krishnasamy, V. (2021). An intelligent hybrid interfacing converter of fuel cell powered telecom loads for efficient power conversion. *Computers & Electrical Engineering*, 90, 106941. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compeleceng.2020.106941
- Nassaji, H. (2020). Good qualitative research. *Language Teaching Research*, 24(4), 427–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288
- Natow, R. S. (2020). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 20(2), 160–173. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077

- Ndagijimana, P., Tech, M., & Kunjithapathan, B. (2019). Design and implementation of PV energy system for electrification of rural areas. *International Journal of Engineering and Advanced Technology* 8(5), 2340–2352. https://www.ijeat.org/wp-content/uploads/papers/v8i5/E6953068519.pdf
- Nicholas, M. M. (2018). Successful Strategies for Implementing EMR Systems in Hospitals. ScholarWorks. https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/5386
- Njoku, H. O. (2016). Upper-limit solar photovoltaic power generation: Estimates for 2-axis tracking collectors in Nigeria. *Energy*, *95*, 504–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2015.11.078
- Odoi-Yorke, F., & Woenagnon, A. (2021). Techno-economic assessment of solar PV/fuel cell hybrid power system for telecom base stations in Ghana. *Cogent Engineering*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2021.1911285
- Ojo, A. E. (2020). Sustainable infrastructure for Nigeria's sustainable economic development: whither transportation or electric power supply? *Journal of Mega Infrastructure & Sustainable Development*, *2*(3), 248–261. https://doi.org/10.1080/24724718.2021.2012364
- Oladimeji, T. T., & Akinwole, O. O. (2018). Fifteen years of GSM services:

  Technological issues, advantages, and socio-economic impact on the Nigerian economy. *International Journal of Advance Research and Innovation*, *6*(1), 36–44. https://doi.org/10.51976/ijari.611807

- Olalekan, F. (2020, March 17). Nigerians spend \$14 billion on generators, fuel.

  Nairametrics. https://nairametrics.com/2020/03/17/nigerians-spend-14-billion-ongenerators-fuel-as-senators-seek-ban-on-generator-use/
- Olayinka. (2021). Businesses lose \$29 billion yearly to poor electricity, says World Bank.

  The guardian. https://guardian.ng/business-services/businesses-lose-29-billion-yearly-to-poor-electricity-says-world-bank/
- Omorodion, N. (2021). Operational Strategies for Nigerian Refineries' Business

  Sustainability. ScholarWorks.

  https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/12500
- Ong, S. Y., & Walker, A. (2022). Using Kotter's 8 steps of change to tackle over-fasting of children attending day surgery. *Pediatric Anesthesia*, *32*(11), 1238–1245. https://doi.org/10.1111/pan.14499
- Onia, S. I. (2022). Leading change at the faculty of education in light of Kotter's change model. *AL-TANZIM: Jurnal Manajemen Pendidikan Islam*, *6*(4), 1149–1162. https://doi.org/10.33650/al-tanzim.v6i4.3287
- Onyeneke, G. B., & Abe, T. (2021). The effect of change leadership on employee attitudinal support for planned organizational change. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 34(2), 403–415. https://doi.org/10.1108/jocm-08-2020-0244
- Orjiakor, E. (2022). Business constraints and firm exit in developing countries: Evidence from Nigeria. Research Square. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1675261/v1

- Ouedraogo, N., & Ouakouak, M. L. (2018). Impacts of personal trust, communication, and affective commitment on change success. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 31(3), 676–696. https://doi.org/10.1108/jocm-09-2016-0175
- Owebor, K., Diemuodeke, E. O., Briggs, T. A., & Imran, M. (2021, November). Power Situation and renewable energy potentials in Nigeria A case for integrated multi-generation technology. *Renewable Energy*, 177, 773–796. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2021.06.017
- Oxenswärdh, A., & Fredriksson, M. (2016). Organizational change as student project.

  International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences, 8(3), 428–437.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/ijqss-12-2015-0077
- Palmié, M., Rüegger, S., & Parida, V. (2023). Microfoundations in the strategic management of technology and innovation: Definitions, systematic literature review, integrative framework, and research agenda. *Journal of Business Research*, 154, 113351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2022.113351
- Paquibut, R., & Al Naamany, A. (2019). Managing organizational change to meet the research–teaching nexus standard: The case of an HEI in the Sultanate of Oman. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 34(4), 782–793. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijem-07-2019-0225
- Park, H., Yoo, Y., & Lee, H. (2021). 7S model for technology protection of organizations. *Sustainability*, *13*(13), 7020. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13137020
  Pathiranage, Y. L., Jayatilake, L. V. K., & Abeysekera, R. (2020). Case study research

- design for exploration of organizational culture towards corporate performance.

  \*Review of International Comparative Management, 21(3), 361–372.

  https://doi.org/10.24818/RMCI.2020.3.361
- Pearce, J. L., & Sowa, J. E. (2019). Organizational behavior: Real research for public and nonprofit managers. Melvin and Leigh.
- Peterson, J. S. (2019). Presenting a qualitative study: A reviewer's perspective. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 63(3), 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986219844789
- Petrou, P., Demerouti, E., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2018). Crafting the change: The role of employee job crafting behaviors for successful organizational change. *Journal of Management*, 44(5), 1766–1792. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315624961
- Philip J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. (2020, December 1). Contents Vol. 35 No.2 July-December 2020. *Philippine Journal of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery*, 35(2), 3. https://doi.org/10.32412/pjohns.v35i2.1529
- Podder, A. K., Habibullah, M., Roy, N. K., & Pota, H. R. (2021). A chronological review of prospects of solar photovoltaic systems in Bangladesh: Feasibility study analysis, policies, barriers, and recommendations. *IET Renewable Power Generation*, 15(10), 2109–2132. https://doi.org/10.1049/rpg2.12165
- Queirós, A., Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017). Strengths and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. *Zenodo*. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.887089
- Qutoshi, S. B. (2018). Phenomenology: A philosophy and method of inquiry. *Journal of Education and Educational Development*, *5*(1), 215–222.

- https://doi.org/10.22555/joeed.v5i1.2154
- Rawson, J. V., & Davis, M. A. (2023). Change management: a framework for adaptation of the change management model. *IISE Transactions on Healthcare Systems*Engineering, 13(3), 198–204. https://doi.org/10.1080/24725579.2023.2201959
- Recht, M. P. (2023). Work from home in academic radiology departments: Advantages, disadvantages and strategies for the future. *Academic Radiology*, *30*(4), 585–589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2022.11.019
- Ribeiro, F. D. M., & Kruglianskas, I. (2020). Critical factors for environmental regulation change management: Evidences from an extended producer responsibility case study. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *246*, 119013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.119013
- Rivaz, M., Shokrollahi, P., & Ebadi, A. (2019). Online focus group discussions: An attractive approach to data collection for qualitative health research. *Nursing Practice Today*, 6(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.18502/npt.v6i1.386
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *51*(4), 432–451. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042
- Rosenbaum, D., More, E., & Steane, P. (2018). Planned organisational change management: Forward to the past? An exploratory literature review. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 31(2), 286–303.

- https://doi.org/10.1108/jocm-06-2015-0089
- Royce, P. (2018). Recipe for change management success. *Optimum Online*, 48(2), 59–62. http://www.optimumonline.ca
- Santos, E., Queiroz, M., Borini, F. M., Carvalho, D., & Dutra, J. S. (2023). The journey of business transformation: unfreeze, change and refreeze a multiple case study.

  \*\*Journal of Organizational Change Management\*, 36(1), 47–63.https://doi.org/10.1108/jocm-03-2022-0063
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907. https://doi:10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Scharp, K. M., & Sanders, M. L. (2019). What is a theme? Teaching thematic analysis in qualitative communication research methods. *Communication Teacher*, *33*(2), 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2018.1536794
- Schwarz, G. M., Bouckenooghe, D., & Vakola, M. (2021). Organizational change failure: Framing the process of failing. *Human Relations*, 74(2), 159–179. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726720942297
- Seamons, V. A., & Canary, H. E. (2017). Contradictions in surgical work teams. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 45(1), 42–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/00909882.2016.1248467
- Shaikh, A. (2020). Understanding change: A critical review of literature. *Annals of*

- Contemporary Developments in Management & HR, 2(2), 40–44. https://doi.org/10.33166/acdmhr.2020.02.005
- Shaw, R. M., Howe, J., Beazer, J., & Carr, T. (2020). Ethics and positionality in qualitative research with vulnerable and marginal groups. *Qualitative Research*, 20(3), 277–293. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119841839
- Shulga, L. V. (2020). Change management communication. The role of meaningfulness, leadership brand authentication, and gender. *Cornel Hospital Quarterly*, 62(4), 498–515. https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965520929023
- Slettebø, T. (2021). Participant validation: Exploring a contested tool in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 20(5), 1223–1238. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325020968189
- Small and Medium Enterprises Development Agency of Nigeria. (2015). SMEDAN & NBS: Survey report on micro, small, and medium enterprises in Nigeria. National Bureau of Statistics. http://www.nigerianstat.gov.ng
- Snyder, H. (2019). Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. *Journal of Business Research*, *104*, 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.07.039
- Stoller, J. K. (2021). Leadership essentials for CHEST medicine professionals. *Chest*, 159(3), 1147–1154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chest.2020.09.095
- Strapuc, M., & Tudose, M. B. (2018). Fiscal risk premise of fiscal anti-fraud control. *Ecoforum*, 7(3).

- Strijker, D., Bosworth, G., & Bouter, G. (2020). Research methods in rural studies:

  Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 78, 262–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2020.06.007
- Susanto, P. C., Widyastuti, T., Karsono, B., & Soehaditama, J. P. (2023). Implementation of transformational leadership to development organization and world class university strategic (literature review). *International Journal of Business and Applied Economics*, 2(3), 405–418. https://doi.org/10.55927/ijbae.v2i3.4264
- Sutherland, L. A. (2020). Finding "hobby" farmers: A "parish study" methodology for qualitative research. *Sociologia Ruralis*, 60(1), 129–150. https://doi.org/10.1111/soru.12262
- Sweis, R., Moarefi, A., Amiri, M. H., Moarefi, S., & Saleh, R. (2019). Causes of delay in Iranian oil and gas projects: a root cause analysis. *International Journal of Energy Sector Management*, 13(3), 630–650. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijesm-04-2018-0014
- Tembo, A. (2021). Strategies to Sustain Business Operations During Continuous

  Environmental Change. ScholarWorks.

  https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/9898
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thi Thanh, U. P. (2022). The application of Kotter's model of change in the higher education: A case study in Vietnam private universities. *International Journal of*

- Social Science and Human Research, 5(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.47191/ijsshr/v5-i1-01
- Tobias, R. M. (2015). Why do so many organizational change efforts fail? *Public Manager*, 44(1), 35–36. http://www.td.org
- Todorov, T., Bogdanova, G., Noev, N., & Sabev, N. (2019). Data management in a Holter monitoring system. *TEM Journal*, 8(3), 801–805. https://doi.org/10.18421/TEM83-15
- Twis, M. K., Miller, V. J., Cronley, C., & Fields, N. (2020). Collecting qualitative data through mobile applications: A multiple case study report. *Journal of Technology in Human Services*, *38*(1), 38–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/15228835.2019.1599766
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (1979). The Belmont report (Human Subjects Research 45 CFR 46).
  http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Vaismoradi, M., & Snelgrove, S. (2019). Theme in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Qualitative Social Research*, 20(3), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3376
- van Den Heuvel, S., Freese, C., Schalk, R., & van Assen, M. (2017). How change information influences attitudes toward change and turnover intention: The role of engagement, psychological contract fulfillment, and trust. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 38(3), 398–418.

- https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-03-2015-0052
- van Hilten, A. (2021). A theory of (research) practice makes sense in sensemaking.

  Applying Bourdieu's critical social theory to the study of sensemaking change. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 34(4), 794–809.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/jocm-06-2019-0177
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation and member checking. *Medical Education*, 51(1), 40–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13124
- Veliu, L., Manxhari, M., Podvorica, N., Fejza, E., & Hyesni, V. (2018). Managing SMEs in a turbulent context: A case study from a Kosovan manufacturing company.
  Journal of Competitiveness, 10(1), 155–170.
  https://doi.org/10.7441/joc.2018.01.10
- Venus, M., Stam, D., & van Knippenberg, D. (2019, June). Visions of Change as Visions of Continuity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 62(3), 667–690. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.1196
- Vos, J. F. J., & Rupert, J. (2018). Change agent's contribution to recipients' resistance to change: A two-sided story. *European Management Journal*, *36*(4), 453–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2017.11.004
- Wabukala, B. M., Bergland, O., Rudaheranwa, N., Watundu, S., Adaramola, M. S., Ngoma, M., & Rwaheru, A. A. (2022). Unbundling barriers to electricity security

- in Uganda: A review. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, *44*, 100984. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2022.100984
- Wadams, M., & Park, T. (2018). Qualitative research in correctional settings:
   Researcherbias, Western ideological influences, and social justice. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 14(2), 72–79. https://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.0000000000000199
- Wakeford, J. (2018). When mobile meets modular: Pay-as-you-go solar in rural Africa:

  An innovative approach to finance is helping to bring off-grid solar energy to low-income households and businesses without access to electricity.

  https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/africaatlse/2018/01/29/when-mobile-meets-modularpay-as-you-go-solar-energy-in-rural-africa/
- Wentworth, D. K., Behson, S. J., & Kelley, C. L. (2020). Implementing a new student evaluation of teaching system using the Kotter change model. *Studies in Higher Education*, 45(3), 511–523. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2018.1544234
- Westney, E. (2020). Reflecting on Japan's contributions to management theory. *Asian Business & Management*, 19(1), 8–24. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41291-019-00079-x
- Widmer, M., Bonet, M., & Betrán, A. P. (2020). Would you like to participate in this trial? The practice of informed consent in intrapartum research in the last 30 years. *PLoS ONE*, 15(1), e0228063. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0228063
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, *15*(1), 45–55.

- http://www.imrjournal.org/uploads/1/4/2/8/14286482/imr-v15n1art4.pdf
- Williamsson, A., Eriksson, A., & Dellve, L. (2016). Organization of change agents during care process redesign in Swedish health care. *Journal of Hospital Administration*, 5(3), 20. https://doi.org/10.5430/jha.v5n3p20
- Wright, A. L., Middleton, S., Hibbert, P., & Brazil, V. (2020). Getting on with field research using participant deconstruction. *Organizational Research Methods*, 23(2), 275–295. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428118782589
- Wu, Y., Howarth, M., Zhou, C., Hu, M., & Cong, W. (2019). Reporting of ethical approval and informed consent in clinical research published in leading nursing journals: A retrospective observational study. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 20(1), 94. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-019-0431-5
- Xu, A., Baysari, M. T., Stocker, S. L., Leow, L. J., Day, R. O., & Carland, J. E. (2020).
   Researchers' views on, and experiences with, the requirement to obtain informed consent in research involving human participants: A qualitative study. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 21(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-00538-7
- Yahaya, Z. S. (2020). Employee inclusion during change: The stories of middle managers in non-profit home care organizations. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, 32(3), 165–171. https://doi.org/10.1177/1084822320901442
- Yarnold, J., Banihashemi, S., Lemckert, C., & Golizadeh, H. (2023). Building and construction quality: systematic literature review, thematic and gap analysis.

  International Journal of Building Pathology and Adaptation, 41(5), 942-964.

- https://doi.org/10.1108/ijbpa-05-2021-0072
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700–2713.https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3412
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.).

  Sage.
- Yue, C. A., Men, L. R., & Ferguson, M. A. (2019, September). Bridging transformational leadership, transparent communication, and employee openness to change: The mediating role of trust. *Public Relations Review*, 45(3), 101779. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.04.012
- Zeljković, Č., Mršić, P., Erceg, B., Lekić, Đ., Kitić, N., & Matić, P. (2022). Optimal sizing of photovoltaic-wind-diesel-battery power supply for mobile telephony base stations. *Energy*, 242, 122545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.122545
- Zulu, J. M., Sandøy, I. F., Moland, K. M., Musonda, P., Munsaka, E., & Blystad, A. (2019). The challenge of community engagement and informed consent in rural Zambia: An example from a pilot study. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 20(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-019-0382-x

## Appendix A: Email Invitation

## Study seeks business executives in Nigeria's telecommunication companies who have implemented successful strategies to mitigate the lack of critical national infrastructure.

There is a new study called "Change Management Strategies for Successfully Managing the Lack of Critical National Infrastructure in the Nigeria Telecommunication Industry" designed to explore how business executives in Nigeria's telecommunication companies develop and implement effective strategies to mitigate the business's financial liquidation. For this study, you are invited to describe your experiences in developing and implementing strategies to mitigate business's financial liquidation due to lack of critical national infrastructure.

This interview is part of the doctoral study for Adedoyin Adeola, a DBA student at Walden University.

## **About the Study:**

- One 45-60 minutes face to face interview that will be audio recorded
- To protect your privacy, all participants' identities will be kept confidential.

## **Volunteers must meet the following requirements:**

- 18 years old or older.
- English speaking.
- Experience in developing and implementing successful strategies to prevent or mitigate business's financial liquidation.

I have enclosed a consent form that includes additional information on the study and participant requirements. I look forward to receiving your confirmation to participate in the study. Thank you for your support.

To confidentially volunteer, please contact the researcher:

Adedoyin Adeola